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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHE

TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of International
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present to you the
audited consolidated final results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
recorded turnover and loss attributable to the shareholders of
HK$104,428,000 (2010: HK$96,090,000) and HK$81,955,000 (2010
loss: HK$33,970,000) respectively. The board does not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010:
Nil).

The loss for the year ended 2011 was mainly attributed to
certain non-operating items, increase in convertible bonds’
finance cost of HK$1,089,000, change in fair value of convertible
bonds of HK$1,186,000, increase impairment loss on goodwill
of HK$9,665,000 and impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$41,595,000. The selling and distribution expenses was
decreased by 63.18% to approximately HK$1,165,000 due to the
slow down of clock business while consolidating the coal mine
business during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the last financial year under review, it was challenging and
encountering complicated economic conditions, the Group firmly
repositioned itself to the development of our resources business and
has laid down the foundation for our future growth and diversification
of business operations.

The Group completed the acquisition of a 100% equity interest in
a company with mining interests and conducting selling of coal in
Xinjiang Province, China in August 2010, wholly-own the mining
resources included (i) the mining rights of Kaiyuan Openpit Coal Mine
located in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC, which
has the estimated proved coal reserves and the estimated probable
coal reserves approximately 14.43 million tons and 4.58 million tons
respectively and (i) the exploration rights of Zexu Openpit Coal Mine
located in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC, which
has the estimated measured coal resources of 56.58 million tons as
of 31 March 2010.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (continued)
EFE®E ()

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

During the year, China sets a strategic move to steer state controlled
investment to certain industries according to the interest of the
nation. This time is called the “125” plan, this plan will focus mainly
on energy related sectors. In terms of energy sources, China’s
overall energy objective during the 12th five-year plan will be to
maintain coal as the dominant source of energy. It is focused that
the growth of 550 millions tones of coal from 2010 to 2015, 26% will
be from Mongolia. The Group is confident that the demand for coal
from the various industries will continue to be robust in view of the
economy in China maintain its gradually growth. However, the Group
is also encountering challenges for its development. Competition
in the future will intensify as excessive production capacity of coal
industry gradually emerges. Cost control will be more difficult due
to the increase in raw materials prices and structural rise of labor
costs. Room for increase of the coal price for major contracts will be
limited under the inflation expectation management of the Chinese
government. China coal energy will actively cope with all difficulties
and challenges, strengthen its capability to ensure safely production,
continue to improve the Group’s corporate governance, increase the
Group’s operating results and create new value for our shareholders.

The Group will continue to explore other investment opportunities in
various industries that have earning potentials as well as sustainable
growth prospect aiming at maximizing the benefits for shareholders.

Extension of Convertible Loan Notes

The Company has extended the Convertible Loan Notes for 36
months from 14 March 2011. Except from the extension of period,
all terms are remained unchanged.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
continued support of the Company.

By order of the Board

Lo Fong Hung
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 20 June 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFWR S

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$104,428,000
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$96,090,000). It
represents an increase of approximately HK$8,338,000 or 8.68% as
compared with last year.

The increase was mainly due to the positive effect on the acquisition
of the remaining 49% equity interest in Star Fortune International
Investment Company Limited. For the illustrative purpose only, if
the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2009, total group
revenue for the period would have been HK$95,993,000 instead of
HK$86,514,000 for coal mine business segment in year 2010.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 was
decreased to approximately HK$71,000 (2010: HK$8,078,000). This
was mainly due to the reduction of management services income of
HK$5,000,000 due to contract completed and reduction of income
of approximately HK$4,576,000 from clock business.

LLoss for the year

Loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 was increased
141.26% to approximately HK$81,955,000 (2010: approximately
HK$33,970,000). This was mainly due to the increase in convertible
bonds’ finance cost of HK$1,089,000, change in fair value of
convertible bonds of HK$1,186,000, increase impairment loss
on goodwill of HK$9,665,000 and impairment loss on intangible
assets of HK$41,595,000. The selling and distribution expenses
was decreased 63.18% to approximately HK$1,165,000 due to
management implemented tight cost control and the slow down of
clock business while consolidating the coal mine business during the
year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business segment

The performance of each of the Group’s business segment for the
year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements and are summarised below:

Other Business

There was no turnover in the year (2010: approximately
HK$9,576,000), this division was under reviewed by the
management.

The trading loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 was
approximately HK$581,000 (2010: trading profit of approximately
HK$2,537,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Business segment (continued)

Coal Mine Business

The Division contributed a turnover of HK$104,428,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$86,514,000) and represents
20.71% increased in 2010. Coal price was increased on different
types of coal, but the costs of production was radically high.

Mine Sales and Production

During the year under review, the Group sold 1.88 million tons to
have the total sales income HK$104,428,000. Details of coal sales in
tons are listed in the below tables.

PEER @)

EBnEE)

R
AoHRBE—T—F=HA=+—H1F
B2 EEBER A104,4280008 (& —
T : 86,514,000870) * R-T—ZF 1%
1120.71% ° EEKBETRERERE EK -
BAEEK A KBRS ©

HIBHEREE

REIEEF AN - A& B H 5 1,880,000 W A
) BTHE WA E104,428,00075 7T o LA
2R ERFBEN TR -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HILLEE

2011 2010

—EB——F —E-TF

Coal sales HIRIEE 1,883,853 1,882,100
tonsH# tonsMig

Coal Sales (tons) and Percentage of Coal Sales

BEIRSHE (M) R RHE B Dt

Coal Sales Coal Sales in

(tons) %

RRHE RERHE

(Mg ) BAK

Large Coal KR 218,999 11.63
Middle Coal AR 401,501 21.31
Nucleus Coal Bz 350,314 18.60
Slack Coal ANKE 840,341 44.61
Mixed Coal SRR 72,698 3.85
Total Sales HEHBE 1,883,853 100.00

Reserves and Resources

The Group owns two mining rights in the Xinjiang, PRC including
Kaiyuan Openpit Coal Mine and Zexu Openpit Coal Mine. The coal
reserve remaining of Kaiyuan Mine was 18.5 millions tons as at 31
March 2011. The explorations of Zexu Mine was in progress, no
development or production activity has taken place at this stage
and the production will be commenced in year 2015. The following
tables are the estimated coal reserves for the Kaiyuan Openpit Coal
Mine and estimated Coal Resources for the Zexu Openpit Coal Mine
Exploration Rights area as at the year 2010 conducted by John T.
Boyd Company in June 2010.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 2EER®)
Reserves and Resources (continued) HERERE)
Estimated coal reserves for the Kaiyuan Openpit Coal Mine are: FRBEARERE (At EREHEENT
Average
Mineable Seam Marketable Reserves
Thickness (m) (tons-millions)
Total As of 31 March 2010
AEEREE
THYEE AERE(EEW)
OK)#5t BE-Z—-ZTH=A=+—H
(Coal/Parting) Proved Probable Total % of Total
Lt
Seam Bench HiE (BB %E) BE FE AR Mt Bt
North of Current Pit
(Potentially Oxidized)
RAEBR U (Bsesat)
B, B, 13.1 - 4.58 4.58 100.00
Mine Plan Area
LR EE
B, B, 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 25.00
B, B, 19.6 10.86 - 10.86 75.00
Total MEt 14.43 - 14.43 100.00
Total
st
B, B, 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 19.00
B, B, 17.7 10.86 4.58 15.44 81.00
Total Ha5T 14.43 4.58 19.01 100.00
Approximately 75% of the total reserves are classified as Proved. MR ATE% DA EBE o

8 International Resources Enterprise Limited - Annual Report 2011



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) ¥EER @
Reserves and Resources (continued) HERERE)
Estimates of Coal Resources for the Zexu Openpit Coal Mine ZBBEXEEMFESE 2 (GHsHEEERE
Exploration Rights area total 119.38 Mt, as summarized below: $£119,380,000MF + BEaigA T -
Average Marketable Resources
Mineable (tons-millions)
Seam AEER(EEM) % of
Thickness (m) Measured Indicated Total Resources
AR E HEIR
Seam BE FHEECK) wH 2 st Ba
B7 B7 8.5 10.23 10.46 20.69 17.33
B, B, 3.9 2.77 3.98 6.75 5.65
B5 85 6.3 5.80 10.42 16.22 13.59
BJ B41 1.8 0.29 0.01 0.30 0.25
84 84 6.1 6.85 10.21 17.06 14.29
B3 B3 6.3 8.06 8.03 16.09 13.48
82 82 21.1 22.58 19.69 42.27 35.41
Total 4ast 56.58 62.80 119.38 100.00
Costs of Sales SHE KA
The cost of sales for the year was HK$104,357,000. The following A& KA %104,357,0008 7T TR,
table set forth the production costs in different categories. HTNE D2 EEKA ©
HK$
BT
Materials, fuel, and power RAMEL - PARH R E 46,296,000
Machinery rental B HE 37,983,000
Environmental and exploration R R ER 4,144,000
Personnel expenses ABRX 3,730,000
Depreciation and amortization e Ko i 8 9,976,000
Other expenses Hx 2,228,000
Total Costs of Sales HBIHERAR 104,357,000

FEREREEGRAT - Fik 2011 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic segments

Hong Kong and PRC (other than Hong Kong) were the major
geographical segments of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2011. Ratio analysis by geographical segments for the Group’s

7RER (#)

bl 548
BE-T——F-A=1+—BILFE T%
RHRBE(TRERE) RAEE s EEHES
B ARERE-T——F=A=+—-AL

turnover for the year ended 31 March 2011 is as follows : FEZEEBREWR D> BEIRL O ON 0
™
PRC (other than
Europe Hong Kong Hong Kong)
BOM &8 HE(FBEES)
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“2——F —T-TF ZB-——F —T-TF ZB-——F —T-TF
% % % % % %
Segment turnover: DB
to total turnover (G EE 0 117 0 5.33 100 93.50
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBESRMKER
As at 31 March 2011, the Group had: W-ZE——F=ZA=+—0 K&EEAH:
e et current assets of approximately HK$235,054,000 (2010: B E EF{E49235,054,00078 7T (=
approximately HK$114,852,000). T—ZF 1 49114,852,00077T) ©

° bank balances and cash of approximately HK$225,857,000
(2010: approximately HK$286,711,000) which were the major
components of the Group’s current assets of approximately
HK$267,242,000 (2010: approximately HK$363,530,000).

° current liabilities of approximately HK$32,188,000 (2010:
approximately HK$248,678,000) which were mainly composed
of amount due to a minority shareholder approximately
HK$28,500,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010 (2011:
Nil) and convertible loan notes (liability component only) with
carrying amount of approximately HK$180,410,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2010 (2011: Nil).

° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$227,128,000
(2010: approximately HK$35,154,000) which were mainly
composed of deferred tax liability of HK$24,069,000 (2010:
HK$33,364,000) and the extended convertible loan notes at
fair value approximately HK$201,186,000 (2010: Nil).

o IRTTHTF RIE S 49225,857,000/8 T

—Z4F : %9286,711,000/87T) -

BAREERB)EE4L267,242,000/8 7T

—Z 4 49363,530,000/87C) 2
FBAEXED

. 5&@%1%%@32,188,0005%7%(:%—
TAE ¢ #248,678,0008 7T )
PREEBEZE_ZT—ZTF=R= + El
HFEEZEM—BRLHERERIELY
28,500,000 T (ZE——%F : #) &
HE-_Z-ZTF=-A=+—HItEE
Z BREE A#1180,410,0008 T (=&
—— & \E) A BREERE(EE
BEBH) -

e JERBAEHL 227,128,000 T (=
T—Z4F : #)35,154,00087L) © £
T B IEIE LT IE & (524,069,000 7T
—ET—F4F 1 33,364,000/ 70 ) ik

I@JéZLHﬂ%ﬁ BEEZEY
201,186,000/ L (ZE—ZF + ) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)
Since the convertible loan notes was a component of long term
liabilities for the year ended 31 March 2011 but current liabilities
in 2010, the Group’s gearing ratio was greatly increased to
approximately 172.48% (2010: 19.38%). The computation is based
on long-term borrowings of the Group divided by shareholder’s
equity before non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2011.

Charges on Group’s Assets

As at the financial year ended 31 March 2011, none of trade
receivables was pledged to secure the borrowing (2010: Nil), no
leasehold land and buildings or investment properties of the Group
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (2010: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS

On 3 July 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of 51% equity
interest in Star Fortune International Investment Company Limited,
which engages in mining, sales and distribution of coal in the PRC, at
an aggregate consideration of HK$104,066,000 including legal and
professional fees directly attributable to the acquisition amounting
to approximately HK$4,066,000. On 17 August 2010, the Group
completed the acquisition of further 49% equity interest from the
joint venture partner in respect of our existing mining interest in
Xinjiang Province, at an aggregate consideration of HK$52,733,000
including legal and professional fees amounting to approximately
HK$2,733,000. The gross margin and the operating profit of coal
mine business diminished to 0.07% (2010: 0.27%) and HK$71,000
(2010: HK$234,000) respectively, due to the adverse effect of
significant increased in production cost during the year 2011 and
sluggish market activities in the first and second quarter of the year.
Although strong business rebound was encountered in the third
quarter and last quarter, the results was still discouraging, we are
positive about the future business result with our new management
team in PRC.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2011, there was no discontinued
operation in the Group.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEENWR D (&)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in RMB and incurs costs in RMB
and Hong Kong dollars. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk based on fluctuations between the Hong Kong dollars and the
RMB arising from its core operation in the PRC. In order to limit this
foreign currency risk exposure, the Group maintained cash balance
that approximate three to four months’ of operating cash flows.

TREASURY POLICIES
The Group generally finances its operation with internal generated
resources.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2011, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2010: Nil).

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had 115 employees (2010: 115)
spreading among Hong Kong, the PRC and Germany. Industrial
relationship has been well maintained. The Group has adopted an
extensive training policy for its employees. It has also sponsored
senior executives for higher education programs. The Group has
adopted a share option scheme whereby certain employees of the
Group may be granted options to acquire shares of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEAEREEAREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lo Fong Hung, aged 56, is the Chairperson and Managing
Director of the Company. Ms. Lo was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 25 March 2008. Ms. Lo also serves for
several non-listed companies, namely as the chairperson of China
International Fund Limited and as the vice chairperson of China
Sonangol International Holding Limited, China Sonangol International
Limited and Endiama China International Holding Limited and as
director of Sonangol Sinopec International Limited and New Bright
International Development Limited. Since 2004, Ms. Lo started
exploring and developing energy resources and industrial investment
in world-wide. Ms. Lo owns 30% shareholding interests in New
Bright International Development Limited, which currently holds
70% shareholding interests in China Sonangol International Limited.
China Sonangol International Limited is the holding company of
Ascent Goal Investments Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Ms. Lo is the wife of Mr. Wang Xiangfei.

Mr. Wang Xiangfei, aged 59, is an executive director of the
Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wang graduated from
Renmin University of China with a bachelor degree in economics in
1982. Mr. Wang also serves for several non-listed companies, namely
as the vice chief financial officer of Sonangol Sinopec International
Limited and as the financial advisor of China Sonangol International
Holding Limited and as an external supervisor of Shenzhen Rural
Commercial Bank. Mr. Wang is currently an independent non-
executive director of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, SEEC
Media Group Limited and Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings
Limited, companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Previously, Mr. Wang had also served as an
executive director and CEO of China Everbright International Limited,
an executive director of China Everbright Limited and China Haidian
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Everbright Technology
Limited), a director & assistant general manager of China Everbright
Holdings Co. Limited. Mr. Wang is the husband of Ms. Lo Fong
Hung.

Mr. Kwan Man Fai, aged 42, is an executive director of the
Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and
a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master
degree in laws from The London School of Economics and Social
Sciences, the University of London and a master degree in the PRC
law from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan is also now
a partner of Messrs. Anthony Siu & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong.
Mr. Kwan has over ten years of experience in corporate finance and
banking work, including assisting various companies in their listing
on the Main Board and Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

HITESE

BHALL 565 BARRIERRES
Wit o BT _EENF=ZA=-+HH
EZEAEARRNITES - BRITREIME
BNZMIELETAR  hEBEERESER
RNEEE AR Z BB RIERBR AR
2 B A AR A B MR & A BIRR I
BRARZEIERE @ WERHPZEHERER
RElREEERERBRAGZES - B2
TEYFRE BRTHEVERFAZHERS
LR REERE - #UTHBEIERER
RARATIZ0%KE - melERERERAR
~E B AEFA T R AR AR AT 70%
7 o RREIRAHARA G ARN A FIERA
RERREBRAGZIERAR - BRLA
IARGEZET -

EFAREE  9m 0 RZFFTNF=H
“tHHERERARRMITES - TR
R—NANZFEXRPEARKELERE
HELTEN - TREMMERNZEIELTA
B M A EBER AR ARz KRR R
Kz B A HERAR AR 2 B
RYNBENEERITRM AR AR Z B8
F o IREBRRBAMERIMBRARE
REMRBFERITROBRIA], HAE
BREBAERARMLRREAXEERN A
[RABZEIIFATES AT - FEED
EREXABERER AR ZHITEETRITHR
BE - PECAERARARLPEISRSE
EAR AR (FIEPBEYCARRBRAR) 2
WITESRPBENAEEBERARESHRY
IPLATE - FRERBEFALLT 2K -

BXELRE 25 R-FTNF=HA
“tHHERERARRNITES - XL
EENBEARE  BEEBTBUEEE
XRBE - BELETRERBIASMBLEL
SHBRERBTRUNBBR AR LR
RS (FEE) - BELRATEEME
BIm—BREMITZABA - BEERDEE
BMERRITESTEAGE &R - EF
BRBHEZHEARNEEHERHAERA
A EAR R BIRIR T2 45 o

13



BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
ESREREEASHE (R)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Ka Wai, Graham, aged 43, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr.
Lam graduated from the University of Southampton, England with a
Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting and Statistics. Mr. Lam is
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Lam is currently the Managing Director and Head of Corporate
Finance of an investment bank and has around 17 years experience
in investment banking as well as around 4 years experience in
accounting and auditing. Mr. Lam is also the independent non-
executive director of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited, Applied
Development Holdings Limited, China Fortune Group Limited, Pearl
Oriental Innovation Limited and Value Convergence Holdings Limited,
companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”); and China Railway Logistics
Limited and Trasy Gold Ex Limited, companies listed on The Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. In addition, Mr. Lam was
the independent non-executive director of China Oriental Culture
Group Limited (formerly known as ZZNode Technologies Company
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from 29 January 2008 to 5 October 2010 and Finet Group Limited
and Hao Wen Holdings Limited, companies listed on The Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange from 5 August 2009 to
24 January 2011 and from 17 November 2010 to 16 May 2011
respectively.

Mr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, aged 45, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008.
Mr. Wong is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA)
and holds a certificate in financial management (CFM). Mr. Wong
holds a bachelor degree in chemical engineering and a master
degree in economics. Mr. Wong is an executive director and deputy
chairman of Raymond Industrial Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive director
of Modern Beauty Salon Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director of Fulbond Holdings Limited from 11
December 2006 to 5 August 2009 and BEP International Holdings
Limited from 9 October 2007 to 5 June 2009, both companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Era Holdings Global Limited
from 17 August 2007 to 25 February 2008, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
ESREREEASHE (R)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey, aged 42, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr.
Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
degree in laws and a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also
holds master degrees in laws from the City University of Hong Kong
and from the People’s University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a
partner of Messrs. David Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan has extensive experience in civil and commercial crime
litigation and also handles various transactions for corporate clients
and banks in Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Hung Che Wan, aged 49, is the company secretary of the
Company appointed on 14 March 2011. Ms. Hung graduated from
the University of Stirling Scotland with bachelor degree in accounting.
Ms. Hung is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 20 years of commercial experience in
business management and administration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELIRS

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness. The Company has applied the principles
of the Code Provisions under the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
March 2011 (“the year under review”), save for the deviations from
Code provision A.1.1, A.2.1 and E.1.2 as disclosed below.

THE BOARD

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
It should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders
at all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors
the performance and activities of the senior management.

The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. The brief biographical details of
the directors and relationship among them are set out in the section
headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management” of this
report. The executive directors of the Company are responsible for
the day to day operations of the Company whereas the independent
non-executive directors of the Company are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of financial and management reporting to the Board
and shareholders of the Company as well as to provide a balanced
composition in the Board so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board.

For the sake of flexibility, the Board holds meeting whenever
necessary. During the year under review, the Board held six meetings
which exceeded the minimum number of board meetings required
under Code provision A.1.1, the attendance records of individual
directors are as follows:

Number of
Name of Directors meetings attended
Executive Directors:
Lo Fong Hung

(Chairperson and Managing Director) 5
Wang Xiangfei 6
Kwan Man Fai 1

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Wong Man Hin, Raymond 2
Lam Ka Wai, Graham 2
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey 1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
REERRE (R)

THE BOARD (continued)

Directors who are considered having conflict of interest or material
interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed,
would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would abstain
from voting on the relevant resolution.

All directors of the Company have access to the Company Secretary
who attended all the scheduled Board meetings and is responsible
for ensuring that the Board procedures are being complied with,
and advising the Board on compliance matters. Each of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent non-
executive directors of the Company are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules. Code provision A.4.1 specifies that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The three independent non-executive directors of the
Company appointed on 25 March 2008 have entered into service
agreements with the Company on 3 May 2008 for an initial term
of 3 years with a commencement date of 25 March 2008. Upon
expired of their service agreements on 24 March 2011, their service
agreements have been extended for 3 years commencing on 25
March 2011. However, they are still subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its directors. All directors of the Company have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the year under review, the Company did not have any officer
with CEQ title. Ms. Lo Fong Hung, the Chairperson and Managing
Director of the Company, also carried out the responsibility of
CEO during such period. In view of the size of operation of the
Group, the Board considered that this structure is more suitable
for the Company as it can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
REERRE (R)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was set up in July 2005 with
specific terms of reference which include reviewing the Company’s
policy and structure on the remuneration of directors and senior
management of the Company, making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration of the directors and senior management
of the Company and advising shareholders of the Company how to
vote with respect to any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of an executive
director of the Company, namely Mr. Kwan Man Fai and three
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely
Messrs. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, Lam Ka Wai, Graham and Chan
Yiu Fai, Youdey.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting having regard to the operating results of the Company,
individual performance and prevailing market conditions. The
Company has also adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and senior management of the Group. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the Committee
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

A total of one meeting has been held in the year under review and
the individual attendance of members are as follows:

Number of
Name of members meetings attended
Kwan Man Fai (Chairman)
Wong Man Hin, Raymond
Lam Ka Wai, Graham
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey

—_ 4 4

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility to
present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment relating
to annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2011, the directors of
the Company are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern basis.
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on page 28 of this
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
REERRE (R)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2011, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
the auditor of the Company, the fee paid or payable to the auditor
and its affiliates provided to the Group as follows:

BB &
BE-T——F=A=1+—BLFE 52
AR EET RIE KR H(BE) B EBHAE
RRA - shEAREmR Y REE SR
BB R B BA L2 BAMT

2011 2010

—EB——F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Audit services FEIZIRT 740 680
Non-audit and taxation services IEBAZ R TR RS 8 26
Total @5t 748 706

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility
in ensuring the Company maintains sound and effective internal
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Company’s assets, and have conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The review
includes financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee have included the duties which are set out in the Code
provision C.3.3 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when
necessary.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive directors of the Company namely, Messrs. Wong Man Hin,
Raymond, Lam Ka Wai, Graham and Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey.

A total of two meetings have been held in the year under review and
the individual attendance of members are as follows:

Number of

Name of members meetings attended

Lam Ka Wai, Graham (Chairman) 2
Wong Man Hin, Raymond 2
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey 1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
REERRE (R)

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee reviewed the interim and full year consolidated
financial statements, including the Group’s adopted accounting
principles and practices, internal controls, and financial reporting
matters in conjunction with the external auditor. The Audit Committee
endorsed the accounting treatment adopted by the Company
and had the best of its ability assured itself that the disclosure of
the financial information in this report complies with the applicable
accounting standards and Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
with the Company’s shareholders, the Company has established
various channels of communications with its shareholders such
as publication of interim and annual reports, press release and
announcement of the latest development of the Company in a
timely manner. The annual general meeting provides an opportunity
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. Moreover,
resolutions are proposed at annual general meeting on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. Details of the proposed resolutions are also set out in the
circular to shareholders accompanying with the annual report.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting of the Company. Due to
other business commitment, Ms. Lo Fong Hung, the Chairperson of
the Board, was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 10 August 2010.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

The directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
mining, sales and distribution of coal.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

By a special resolution passed on 11 March 2011, the name of the
Company was changed from “China Sonangol Resources Enterprise
Limited” to “International Resources Enterprise Limited” and the
Company adopted the Chinese name “BIff &R E £ AR AR as
Chinese secondary name of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 122. The
directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out on pages
123 to 124 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options are set out in note 27 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

Details of the convertible loan notes issued by the Company
during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

AARERHEULRSAATRARERE =
T —F= A=t ALFEEERRS
P A P E

EFREHK

ARBR—HEREER AT o« KRB MEM
BRR([AEE]) 2 EZEBR/RRFAER
HHE MR ©

R ONCIEY
RRARARZZE——F=A+—HARA
FRDRZR - BARAZMEAT China
Sonangol Resources Enterprise Limited ]
2% A& [ International Resources Enterprise
Limited | - SWERAH X2 BREREER
RAFIRARRZE P XEHE -

KERKRE
ﬁ%lﬁi_g——iiﬂi—k—ﬁtiﬁé
ZFBERA RN B EARE BN Z A Z EBRR
HNEIE12AZHAMBHRERA - AR
AEETEFBREZFEEMBRES

EFERMKEE
AEMBERESBREED ARG LE &
EREENREERESHE (HRaEE
R TS RE ) BN FERE 12881248 « Wi
B TEREE RIS HRE—D

W% - BENRE
AEBFERZME - BB MR
N AP IHRMEES

R BEEIE

P& 2 K2 B B fE
AN 2 RN K B R
ERRMIFE27 K234 o

EACE S Sy

TRREERE
K"ﬁ)‘?ilﬂq?ﬁ TZ A EEREFIEH
RER A B IRERMTEE26

21



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Exaws(E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 March 2011, there was no management
incomes received from any connected persons (2010:
HK$5,000,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statements of changes in equity
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2011, the Company had no retained profits available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed surplus of
HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under certain circumstances. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account with a balance of
HK$191,534,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 32% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 8%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 97% of the
total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 33%.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lo Fong Hung (Chairperson and Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei

Kwan Man Fai
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
Exaws(E)

DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent non-executive directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond

Lam Ka Wai, Graham

Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Lo
Fong Hung and Mr. Lam Ka Wai, Graham will retire by rotation and
be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 and 15 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director of the Company proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director of the Company had a significant beneficial interest,
either direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any its subsidiaries was a
party at any time during the year ended 31 March 2011.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests of the directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS EBERIFIEFHRAE RO RIEE
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long

position

Interests in an associated corporation of the Company

Name of Director

Name of associated
corporation

Nature of interest

IR A R ()
Sy

/NP E):c Nl

Approximate

Number percentage
of shares of the issued
interested share capital
FE#me HEBTRA

BEMA iz} N Ry ERIEE BHhEE  HMAOBESL
Ms. Lo Fong Hung (Note 1) New Bright International Interests of controlled 3,000 (L) 30%
& A 2t (PRET) Development Limited corporation

BB ERAGR AR EEHER R
Mr. Wang Xiangfei (Note 2)  New Bright International Interests of controlled 3,000 (L) 30%

FAARE A (Y FE2)

Development Limited
BEERERAR AR

(L) denotes as long position

Notes:
1.

Ms. Lo Fong Hung (“Ms. Lo”) is interested in 3,000 shares in New
Bright International Development Limited (“New Bright”), representing
30% of the issued share capital of New Bright, which currently owns
70% shareholding interests in China Sonangol International Limited
(“China Sonangol”). China Sonangol is the holding company of Ascent
Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”), the controlling shareholder
of the Company. The shareholding interests of Ascent Goal is set out
in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders” of this report.

Mr. Wang Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo and is deemed to be
interested in 3,000 shares of New Bright under the SFO.

Ms. Lo, an executive director of the Company, owns 30% of the issued
share capital of New Bright which in turn is interested in 70% of China
Sonangol. China Sonangol is the holding company of Ascent Goal.
Thus, Ms. Lo has an attributable interest in 569,616,589 shares of the
Company and a HK$200,000,000 convertible bond giving rise to an
interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying shares of the Company

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

DEB

Save

ENTURES

as disclosed under note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire

benef

its by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of

the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by

them;

or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any

arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any

other

24

body corporate.

corporation
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
showed that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain directors and chief executives, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of the relevant interests in the issued share
capital of the Company.

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company

B REST 2
AR aEIRETE 2 B EN A SR E
MizEa4 o

FERR

R-TB——F=A=+—RH  AQAEREZ
R AEIGHIFEIB6EMTFE T ZRIRAM
BN BREXFIRBEERE TESRERTT
ARz #ms)  TIBRREMEARFIR
ENARPERITRA 2 B -

RARBIRDSARER D 2 R

Approximate
percentage of
Total number the issued
Number of  of shares and share capital
Name of Number of underlying underlying of the Company
Shareholders Notes Nature of interest shares held shares held shares held (Note 6)
L UN
BRITRA
FrHE FREFRR AR K BAEAL
REEH Mt EREE PR BB RGHE HEROEH (Fi=E6)
Ascent Goal 1,4  Beneficial owner 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
i BREAA
China Sonangol 2,4 Interests of controlled corporation 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
ZHER SR R
New Bright 2,4 Interests of controlled corporation 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
s XSRS
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, 3,4  Interests of controlled corporation 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
Veronica RS EE R
ey o
Africa Israel 5 Beneficial owner 45,000,000 - 45,000,000 5.88%
Investments Ltd ERBERA
Mr. Lev Leviev 5  Beneficial owner 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.13%
Lev Levievit 4 ERBEAA
5 Interests of controlled corporation 74,000,000 - 74,000,000 9.67%
REHEE R
Notes: Btk -
1. Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and a 1 B 1ZE 1 569,616,589 % & 17 /A # A H #
further 1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully allotted Mz WHRABBRESFZEIRE0.20/8

and issued if the convertible bond are converted at the conversion
price of HK$0.20. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held by Ascent
Goal directly as beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests in 569,616,589
shares and (ii) the convertible bond giving rise to an interest in
1,000,000,000 underlying shares.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Sonangol
which is beneficially owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of
Ascent Goal is deemed to be the interests of China Sonangol and in
turn the interests of New Bright under the SFO.

3. Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica is deemed to have interests in the
Shares and underlying shares through her 70% interest in New Bright.

4. The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under
the convertible bond represent 74.42% and 130.66% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company respectively, thus the total of
569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares represents
205.08% of the existing issued share capital of the Company.
The conversion rights attaching to the convertible bond will not be
exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares fif,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable
to meet the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

5. For the shares held by Mr. Lev Leviev, of these shares, 45,000,000
shares were held by Africa Israel Investments Ltd, a company
controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev through his 74.89% interests in Africa
Israel Investments Ltd; 29,000,000 shares were held by Memorand
Management (1998) Ltd, a company controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev
through his 99% interests in Memorand Ltd.; and 1,000,000 shares
were held by Mr. Lev Leviev directly.

6. The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on
765,373,584 shares as at 31 March 2011, not the enlarged issued
share capital of the Company upon full conversion of the convertible
bond.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
No director of the Company had interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the
year and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company has
complied throughout the year ended 31 March 2011 with the Code
of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save as
the deviations disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report as set
out in pages 16 to 20.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors
of the Company, over 25% of the issued share capital of the
Company was held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

FERR#E)
RANR AR SRR D 2 58 ()

BifeE - (88)
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BRBLE D

The company has received from each of the independent non- ZARATIEEES B IEHNITESRIE LHR
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant  BIE53. 1318t LB~ & D F{EH FEE %R -

to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent W2 AFTA B FFRITEEH AB AL ©

non-executive directors to be independent.

AUDITOR BELED
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited will hold office as the auditor of the kP A(EB)STMEBEMARARIEE
Company until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general ARG EEEREREEFAS 4

meeting. RALE -

On behalf of the Board REEFZ

Lo Fong Hung BHA

Chairperson and Managing Director FEREFLIIE

Hong Kong, 20 June 2011 &8 —2—FA=+H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VRS e

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

fiPto

8112ne70[n§

TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES
ENTERPRISE LIMITED (FORMERLY KNOWN AS CHINA
SONANGOL RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
International Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
30 to 122 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZHEHRE ()

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2011
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5044

Hong Kong
20 June 2011

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEElaR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

2011 2010
—=2——F —=—2F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FHET FHT
Turnover EEE 7 104,428 96,090
Cost of sales and services provided — $#4%& IR ARTE 2 B A (104,357) (88,012)
Gross profit EF 71 8,078
Other operating income HABALZUA 3,088 2,752
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEEE 17 (15,065) (5,400)
Impairment loss on intangible assets 2 E EREE 12 16 (41,595) -
Net gain on deregistration of —HNBARREEE
a subsidiary Wiz 558 31 408 -
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDIHER (1,165) (3,164)
Administrative expenses THE A (17,396) (16,317)
Change in fair value of AIBREEZEE 2 AFE
convertible loan notes #H) 26 (1,186) -
Finance costs EI= YN 9 (19,845) (18,756)
Loss before tax BRTiRIE B (92,685) (31,807)
Income tax credit (expense) FristiEe (F) 10 10,730 (2,163)
Loss for the year FREE 11 (81,955) (33,970)
Other comprehensive Hitt2mEBA(FX)
income (expense)
Exchange difference arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of overseas operation PE R EZRE N EENER
and net income (expense) directly  FERZUA (FI ) F%E
recognised in equity 3,717 (419)
Other comprehensive income (expense) = A E M2 W A (FixZ)
for the year (net of tax) (R FIE) 3,717 (419)
Total comprehensive expense for FRNEEMAZRE
the year (78,238) (34,389)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

FeEzERERE)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &

E-F-——4ZAS+—AILEE

2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FHET FHT
Loss for the year attributable to: LA AZEEFAEE
— Owners of the Company R VNCIEZ= PN (81,094) (31,789)
— Non-controlling interests — JEiE AR RS (861) (2,181)
(81,955) (83,970)
Total comprehensive expense AT ATEEEEAZ B
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company —ANAREAR A (77,377) (32,071)
- Non-controlling interests — IEPE R R 2 (861) (2,318)
(78,238) (34,389)
LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND BREE-EXREE
DILUTED (Expressed in (LABILZS1)
Hong Kong cents) 13 (10.60) (4.15)

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MEikERE

At 31 March 2011 R—ZE——F=A=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bi5E F&T T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NERIE 15 26,345 23,626
Intangible assets mEEE 16 95,480 139,168
Goodwill [EES 17 - 15,065
Security deposit RFBERE 18 1,930 1,844
123,755 179,703
Current assets MENEE
Inventories & 19 36,701 63,407
Trade and other receivables FEU S Tk K E b FE W sk 1B 20 4,684 13,412
Bank balances and cash RITHEGF MRS 21 225,857 286,711
267,242 363,530
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables JER &R B FE T SRR 22 31,615 39,600
Amounts due to related companies FEREE A R FIB 23 - 168
Amount due to shareholder of a JEAS —FEIB B A B A R
subsidiary A 24 - 28,500
Amount due to ultimate holding JE A SR AR AR A B 7R T8
company 25 573 -
Convertible loan notes AR EEEE 26 - 180,410
32,188 248,678
Net current assets MEVEEFE 235,054 114,852
Total assets less current liabilities REERTEEE 358,809 294,555
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
FEMBERRER(E)
At 31 March 2011 R—ZE——F=A=+—H

2011 2010
—=2——F —ET-FF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bi5E F&T T
Capital and reserves IR K
Share capital i 27 76,537 76,537
Reserves G 55,144 104,860
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEIEE AEIG R
Company 131,681 181,397
Non-controlling interests FEtEfR - 78,004
131,681 259,401
Non-current liabilities JERBBE
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBAE 28 24,069 33,364
Convertible loan notes designated 18T B A EY R
as financial liabilities at fair value BaNRE([EAFE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) FIBRIW B R NERIE |)
e RAaE s TR
BEERE 26 201,186 -
Provision for close down, restoration BB « 1838 L IRIBRK AN
and environmental costs Bt 29 1,873 1,790
227,128 35,154
358,809 294,555

The consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 122 were  JIEHMNB0E 122 B 2 A M BEHER _Z

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 ——F XA -+ BHESSH# & RIRET
June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: B WAHUTEERAEE
Lo Fong Hung Wang Xiangfei
BHA 3
Chairperson Executive Director
*E HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

Reserve
and
Convertible enterprise  Exchange Non-
Share Share  loan notes Capital ~expansion translation ~ Special Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve reserve funds  reserve  Reserve losses Total interests Total
TEREE BERLE FER
ke ROEE RERE  EARE  BREE  ENRR  RIRE ZithR ] i L]
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HK$O000 HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000
Tér TR TEn Thr  TEr  Thr  TEn Thn  TEr  TEr  TEn
(Noteg) ~ (Noteb)
(Hika) (o)
A1 April 2009 R-FENERA-A 765371 191534 55,4% 14,882 629 990) - (124619 213468 - 213468
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (31789 (1789 2181 (33970)
Other comprehensive expense FREpRERY
forthe year - - - - - (28 - - (28 (137) #9
Total comprehensive expense Eh2ERREE
forthe year - - - - - 8] S BT @O P31 (Y
Addion on acquisition of subsiciaries  MEMBATEFE - - - - - - - - R (K772 (X7,
Transfer 2y - - - - 47% - - (4725) - - -
At 31 March 2010 RoE-EF=f=1-A 76537 191534 55,4% 14882 5,34 (1272) - (161,133 181,307 78004 259,401
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - (81,094 (81,004 (861) (81,959
Other comprehensive expense FREMEERY
for the year - - - - - 3n7 - - 3n7 - N7
Total comprefensive expense FREERREE
forthe year - - - - B Yol - Bl @A ) 782
Adaition on aoquisition of subsidiaries  WENBAAERE - - - - - - A8 - AM (748 (0,000)
Deregisirafion of a subsiciary ~EBAR R - - - - - 518 - - 518 - 518
Release during the year upon TEREEZEERR
expiring of convertible loannotes—— RERETE - - 549 - - - - 55,495 - - -
At 31 March 2011 RZE--%Zh=1-H 76937 191,534 - 14,882 5,354 2,963 2143 (186,732) 131,681 - 131,681
Note: =T -
(@  In accordance with the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC”)  (a) MRIEFRFEARLRMBE(THE B - K&

regulations, all of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to transfer part of their profit after tax to the reserve and enterprise
expansion funds, which are non-distributable, before profit distributions
are made. The amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of
the boards of directors of these companies in accordance with their
articles of association.

(b)  The amount in special reserve represents the difference between
the consideration paid for further 49% equity interest in Star Fortune
International Investment Co. Limited (“Star Fortune”) and the decrease
in the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of Star Fortune.

(b)

EfMAETEZMBAREERD IR
A A L AR 0 BR A 1R i R BEE A Dk 2
EEEEERRES - BRSBALHZ
FRAESRRREAUSRAANEL -

FhHlEESBERENE—SRBENES
BERERERRAR([2NEE])49% /A
BECNRERENEEFERERRE
BERERIER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FaEleiER

For the Year Ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZE——F=A=+—H | EE

2011 2010
—B——fF —=—2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Loss before tax BT A1 (92,685) (31,807)
Adjustments for: BT B VEFEE
Net reversal of allowance for doubtful FEE SRR BR BB B B F RE
debts of trade receivables - (5653)
Depreciation of property, Y% - BMEREEZTTE
plant and equipment 2,979 1,677
Amortisation of intangible assets mR B EHE 6,693 3,201
Finance costs EhE AR 19,845 18,756
Impairment loss on goodwill EE 2R ERE 15,065 5,400
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEZRERR 41,595 -
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries B8 & BIHE A 2 Was (408) -
Fair value change in convertible bond R A TESBRI I
designated at fair value through B NERIE 2 AT AR
profit and loss BEH 2 N EZE 1,186 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BEMEEZ
plant and equipment g 47 100
Interest income FEAA (418) (120)
Waiver of long outstanding trade payables HeRIAREERNER (809) -
Write down of inventories WRFE = 16,800
Operating cash flow before movements in HEECEHRI o LE
working capital WemE (6,910) 13,454
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA (1) 26,706 (8,266)
Decrease in trade and other receivables JFE U & TR N b U R Il
W 6,612 18,399
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE SR R B R SRIE
N (5,168) (25,074)
Increase in amount due to ultimate JER B EAE IR A FIFRIA
holding company bl 573 -
Decrease in provision for close down, RAET « 1828 MIRIBAK A
restoration and environmental costs B &R D - (4,816)
Decrease in amounts due to related FEAHAE N B FIEE N
companies (168) (3,056)
Cash generated from (used in) operations WEZEIEFTR(FTR)IRE 21,645 (9,359
Overseas tax paid BHUGIINIE (107) (5,029
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ReEXBMEFIARERA
ACTIVITIES 21,538 (14,388)

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
HERERER(E)
For the Year Ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZE——F=A=+—H | FEE

2011 2010
—=2——F —ET-FF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FHET FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEYK
Acquisition of further interest in HE— DB E A RS
subsidiaries 30 (50,000) -
Repayment of amount due to BEEMN—TEHE AR
shareholder of a subsidiary B FIE (28,500) -
Additions of property, plant and NEME - BB L
equipment (4,699) (6,447)
Deregistration of a subsidiary — IRt A R A e ()] -
Interest received BFE 418 120
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME  BWELEREZ
plant and equipment FriSsr18 73 30
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash Y& B& i B A T (FOBRFrEE A
and cash equivalents acquired) RekBReFEER) 30 - (69,605)
Increase in security deposit REBER SN = (1,844)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEBIARSFRE
ACTIVITIES (82,711) (77,746)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEER
Interest paid BRFE (255) (217)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RiE%BFARSTE
ACTIVITIES (255) (217)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRREEEEAZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (61,428) (92,351)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S#2R4RRL%EER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 286,711 378,997
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXRggH =&
RATE CHANGES 574 65
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S&RERBELSZEEIER -
AT END OF YEAR,
represented by bank balances Al D BIRITHRE MRS
and cash 225,857 286,711
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fn e MR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

GENERAL

International Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s parent
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and the Group’s ultimate holding company is China
Sonangol International Limited (“China Sonangol”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”). For the year ended 31 March 2010,
the management of the Company had considered HK$ as
the functional currency of the Company. As the turnover and
results are contributed by the mining, sales and distribution of
coal business during the year ended 31 March 2011 while the
other segments remain inactive as a result of strategic shift in
the business focus of Group, the directors of the Company are
of the view that the functional currency of the Company has
been changed from HK$ to Renmenbi (“RMB”) from 1 April
2010 onwards. The presentation currency of the Company
and the Group would remain to be in HK$ for consistent
presentation and the use of investors.

The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) is the mining, sales and distribution of coal.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the special general
meeting held on 11 March 2011, the name of the Company
was changed from China Sonangol Resources Enterprise
Limited (& REZXABMRR A A]) to International Resources
Enterprise Limited (BIBX & REEHFRAF]). The certificate
of incorporation on change of name and the certificate
of secondary name have been issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Bermuda and the name change took into effect
on 16 March 2011.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations (“INTs”) (herein collectively referred to as “new
and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs 2008

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

Hong Kong Accounting Consolidated and Separate Financial
Standard (‘HKAS”) 27 Statements
(Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Rights Issues

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items

HK (IFRIC) - INT 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

HK - INT 5 Presentation of Financial Statements

- Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010. The requirements
in HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements in relation to accounting for changes in ownership
interests in a subsidiary after control is obtained and for loss
of control of a subsidiary are also applied prospectively by the
Group on or after 1 April 2010.

Results of the Group in future periods, may be affected by
future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27
(Revised) and the consequential amendments to the other
HKFRSs are applicable.

2. &%
*
[}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

The application of HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) has resulted in
changes in the Group’s accounting policies regarding increases
or decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries of the
Group. In prior years, in the absence of specific requirements
in HKFRSs, increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were
treated in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries,
with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised
where appropriate. Under HKAS 27 (Revised 2008), all
increases in such interests are dealt with in equity, with no
impact on goodwill or profit or loss.

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the definition
of non-controlling interest has been changed. Specifically,
under the revised Standard, non-controlling interest is defined
as the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to a parent.

In respect of the acquisition of further 49% equity interest
in Star Fortune during the year, the impact of the change in
accounting policy has been that the difference of approximately
HK$27,143,000 between the consideration paid and the
decrease in the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests
has been recognised directly in equity (special reserve). Had
the previous accounting policy been applied, this amount
would have been recognised as gain on bargain purchase
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Therefore, the change in accounting policy has resulted in
increase in loss for the year of approximately HK$27,143,000
and increases in basic and diluted loss per share of 3.55 Hong
Kong cents.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mE B RRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

40

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are

not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
HKFRS 9

HKAS 12 (Amendment)
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HK (IFRIC) - INT 14

(Amendment)

HK (IFRIC) - INT 19

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 except for
the amendments to HKFRS 3 (Revised in
2008), HKFRS 7, HKAS 1 and HKAS 28!

Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters?

Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters?

Disclosure — Transfers of Financial Assets*

Financial Instruments®

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets®

Related Party Disclosure?

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in November 2010) adds requirements
for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at their fair
values at the end of subsequent accounting periods.

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change relates to
financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of
the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1 January 2013 and that the application of
the new standard may have a significant impact on amounts
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets. However,
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that
effect until a detailed review has been completed.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
other new and revise standards, amendments or interpretations
will have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange
for assets.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

(@) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and

expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. Prior to
1 April 2010, losses applicable to the non-controlling
interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests had a binding obligation and were able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 April 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 20710

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated
in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries,
with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being
recognised where appropriate. For decreases in interests
in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries,
the difference between the consideration received and
the carrying amount of the share of net assets disposed
of was recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

44

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place prior to 1 April
2010

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that met the relevant conditions for recognition
were generally recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the recognised amount of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the recognised
amount of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the acquisition,
the excess was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The minority interest in the acquiree was initially
measured at the minority interest’s proportionate share
of the recognised amount of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(©

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro rata basis based on of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at cost less
any identified impairment loss.
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46

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(€)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets below).

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Patents and trademarks

Cost incurred on the acquisition of patents and
trademarks are capitalised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and are amortised by equal annual
instalments over the estimated useful life of five years.
Patents and trademarks are not revalued as there is no
active market for these assets.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised on the units of production method utilising only
proven and probable coal reserves in the depletion base.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of
an identified resource.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs
which are directly attributable to:

- research and analysing historical exploration data;

- gathering exploration data through topographical,
geographical and geophysical studies;

- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and grade
of the resource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure
requirements; and

- conducting market and finance studies

Expenditure during the initial exploration stage of
a project is charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Exploration and
evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licenses,
are capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets on
a project-by-project basis pending determination of the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that a mining
property is capable of commercial production, exploration
and evaluation costs are transferred to mining rights and
are amortised based on the accounting policy as stated
in “Mining rights” above. If any project is abandoned
during the evaluation stage, the total expenditure thereon
will be written off.
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48

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and
building held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans
and receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.
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50

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade and others
receivables and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses. (see accounting policy
on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For the Group’s financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period of 90 days,
observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade and other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

52

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
generally classified as FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL represented those
designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

- on initial recognition, it is a part of an identified
portfolio of financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

- the financial liability forms part of a group financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (assets or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss includes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies and
amount due to shareholder of a subsidiary/ultimate
holding company are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

54

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes contains liability and equity
components

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is
included in equity (convertible loan notes reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible loan notes reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible loan notes reserve will be transferred to share
premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry date, the balance stated in convertible loan notes
reserve will be released to accumulated losses. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transactions costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible loan notes (continued)

Convertible loan notes designated as FVTPL

Other convertible loan notes issued by the Group
(including related embedded derivatives) are designated
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition. At each reporting dates subsequent
to initial recognition, the entire convertible loan note
is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset in
its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.

56

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect is material).

Provision for close down, restoration and
environmental costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence
caused by the resettlement of the land at the mining
sites. Depending on the circumstances, the Group
may relocate inhabitants from the mining sites prior
to conducting mining activities or the Group may
compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage from
close down and land subsidence after the sites have
been mined. The Group may also be required to make
payments for restoration, rehabilitation or environmental
protection of the land after the sites have been mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling
and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of
residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas.
Close down and restoration costs are provided in the
accounting period when the obligation arising from the
related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during
mine development or during the production phase, based
on the net present value of estimated future costs. Where
there is a change in the expected decommissioning and
restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and
the effect is then recognised in the profit or loss on a
prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation.
Provision for close down and restoration costs do not
include any additional obligations which are expected
to arise from future disturbance. The cost estimates are
reviewed and revised at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in conditions.

3.

TEETEE®

M

&
EAREERBEFMEAERA
BfE - MAKERAIGEARES
METAHEESRFELASE
fhat - RIHER B - BB R
HEEARHBR N TAREE
% RFNREHREERE LS
RAREZREMGFTREFE -
HERGEBFRAREZ GRS
MERFTEEE - HEEERZ
FReRECHENMTERE
RE) °

B ERERREMARE

RigERR 2 — @R REEERES
WoE e & 3 T FE - RF
B0 - NREE A RETTRREE
RISEASIE RBBERS - SR ES
FAERIZ BARE PATRIS A 30 T PR P
ERZBAFEEAERELRE
{8 - B4 REB IR REAX N
BEHFRE z THER - BB
RIRER -

BRI R BB AN BIETGR KBk
EERIE - BREHME REE
ETEREZKA - BRANER
RARBBETESIEZETEE
SETHIR - RIAFTARMKAZF
REAHRRE - MTw&ZEES
BRERERE AR EEERR
B o INTREH R RIEZERA
RE  BEIEREEREE
BIEL AR - ERMEEZER
PR EE BIR AR TR EER
1R fERR - BERN MIEZER AR 2 B
B ERARTEEHENES
2 ERBINEAE - AR
SR IR A RS EIRZ RIEIE
AR BRIEREE

International Resources Enterprise Limited - Annual Report 2011



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months
or less. For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and short-term deposit as defined above.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit and loss.

Where impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately in profit and loss.
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58

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
assets is reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
whenever one of the following events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

- The period for which the entity has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not
expected to be renewed; or

- Substantive expenditure incurred on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area is neither budgeted nor
planned; or

- Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources
and the entity has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; or

- Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although
a development in the specific area is likely to
proceed the carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full
from successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

BREREXARA

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided
in the normal course of business, net of discounts and
sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title has passed.

Revenue from provision of management services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted by the Company to directors
and employees of the Company

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. =E&:HE @)
(@  Foreign currencies (continued) (@ SNE(E)

62

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for:

- exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in the
cost of those assets when they are regarded as
an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

- exchange differences on transactions entered into
in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks;
and

- exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially
in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the
monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income accumulated in equity
under the heading of the exchange translation reserve
(attributing to non-controlling interest as appropriate).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

M

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for
as property, plant and equipment.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits scheme
and the defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are charged as an expense when the employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers and adjust credit limits based on payment history
and the customer’s current credit-worthiness, as determined
by the review of their current credit information. The Group
continuously monitors collections and payments from its
customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit
losses based upon its historical experience and any specific
customer collection issues that it has been identified. In
addition, the Group will provide general provision based on
the aging analysis of the trade debtors. Credit losses have
historically been within the Group’s expectations and the
Group will continue to monitor the collections from customers
and maintain an appropriate level of estimated credit losses.
As at 31 March 2011, the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is HK$4,684,000, net of accumulated impairment
losses of HK$719,000 (2010: HK$13,412,000, net of
accumulated impairment losses of HK$719,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for use in production or
sales. The management estimates the net realisable value for
such raw materials and finished goods based primarily on the
latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis
at the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for
obsolete items. During the year ended 31 March 2011, no
impairment loss was recognised in respect of raw materials
and finished goods to write-down the inventories to its net
realisable value (2010: HK$16,800,000).

Carrying value of non-current assets and impairment of
assets (other than goodwill)

Non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and impairment losses,
where appropriate. These carrying amounts are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flows to be associated with the non-current assets and
discount rates, are made. If future events do not correspond
to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be
revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s results of
operations or financial position.

B EREXARAA - 3, 2011

BASE at H i R 5t R EABA
EZEBRRFE)

CRENILPSEwAES-Y 971¢ )

& R
AEBEERENE RS MEERER
AEEREDN - THEERTHE
EREEENRHEE BN IBHETE
HERSELEE -  EEEXERE
R RER R ER 2 TR b %
FRH KM JERFE - AE
ERNEREHEERREEREME

HEe—_T——F=fA=+—HIt#F
[ RNEBEER R KRN @ ER
BEBE(ZZ—ZF : 16,800,000/
J0) - R A EE B AT W EFE -

FRBEERAEREE (TREH
2)RE

FRBEE(BREME  BELRE)
DA RSB T B EE AR B AR R AT T B L
HRORERE(WER) Ik - E#AE
EREHFRRFELRE( - BRERE
B REEAWER - BlgmalzEn
BzEmERSELRE FEER
E{EBBEATKRE SRR - @pEE
BHERBERX - AIREEEREE
RHERBEXASEREBZES
o AT EEZ AT E S B (F
ZIHEBER - BREFRBDEEER
ARBERERBIRE - FHARKER
HZERENN - IR HER
EHERT  WHFETAEFEARKE
BRGSO

65



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

66

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of mining right and exploration and evaluation
assets

The Group assesses each cash generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment exists.
Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered to
be the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. These assessments require the use of estimates and
assumptions such as long-term commodity prices, discount
rates, future capital requirements, exploration potential and
operating performance. Fair value is determined as the amount
that would be obtained from the sale of the asset is generally
determined as the present value of estimated future cash flows
arising from the continued use of the asset, which includes
estimates such as the cost of future expansion plans and
eventual disposal, using assumptions that an independent
market participant may take into account. Cash flows are
discounted by an appropriate discount rate to determine
the net present value. Management has assessed its cash
generating units as being an individual mine site, which is
the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent
of other assets. As at 31 March 2011, an impairment loss
of HK$28,340,000 for mining right and HK$13,255,000 for
exploration and evaluation assets (2010:Nil) were recognised
in profit or loss. Details of impairment test on intangible assets
are set out in note 16.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired required an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, an impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2011, an impairment loss of
HK$15,065,000 (2010: HK$5,400,000) was recognised in
profit or loss. Details of impairment test on goodwill are set out
in note 17.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s
coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the
quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and
depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgments and
calculations to interpret the data.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Reserve estimates (continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations,
estimates of reserves may change from period to period.
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the
following:

(i) Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

(i)  Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in
the profit or loss may change where such charges are
determined by the units of production basis, or where the
useful economic lives of assets change.

(i)  Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental
provisions may change where changes in estimated
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of
these activities.

(iv)  The carrying value of deferred tax may change as a result
of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs is determined by management based on their past
experience and best estimation of future expenditures, after
taking into account existing relevant PRC regulations. However,
in so far as the effect on the land and the environment from
current mining activities becomes apparent in future years, the
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to revision
from time to time. Details of the Group’s provision for close
down, restoration and environmental costs are set out in note
29.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Valuation for convertible loan notes

The fair value of convertible loan notes are determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group has adopted judgement to
select an appropriate valuation method and make assumption
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
transaction date and each reporting date with reference
to the valuation performed by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers. The valuation model
requires the input of subjective assumptions which includes
the stock price volatility, expected dividend vyield, risk free
rate and expected life. As at 31 March 2011, the carrying
amount of convertible loan notes designated as FVTPL is
HK$201,186,000.

Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes convertible loan notes disclosed in note 26, cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the associated risks, and take
appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure. The
overall strategy of the Group remained unchanged during the
two years ended 31 March 2011.
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6.

70

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS @I A
Ga. Categories of financial instruments 6a. SETEMER
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERAFECERERE 231,756 301,935
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ZEBERATEZSRER 32,188 248,678
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BEAFESIRIEBRENEE
prdcd 4= 201,186 -
Bb. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. MEEMREREBZERBER

The Group’s major financial instruments include security
deposit, trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to related
companies, amount due to shareholder of a subsidiary/
ultimate holding company and convertible loan notes.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@MIA(E)
6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. HIBRMEEBEZMEGR(E)
(continued)
Currency risk B ER
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign RARETHEB AR LAINE ST
currency sales and purchases, which expose the BE  SAEBAIINERE o
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group does not IR [ I AT A INEE S5 R IR o
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the SR > EIREESRIMERE - I
management monitors foreign exchange exposure A HEREE E LR E KINER
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency 2 o
exposure should the need arise.
Certain trade receivables, bank balances and cash REEBETFTEWNER « BITEF
and trade payables of the Group are denominated in MR NEMEFTHENEAERE
currencies other than the functional currency of the group B 7 AL S AN B St
entity to which they relate. (=
The following table shows the Group’s exposure TRETRANEBRRE BB &
at the end of reporting date to currency risk arising RFE 5B R AR TR
from transactions or recognised assets or liabilities BEEBIINEBEEZEES A
denominated in a currency other than the functional BMEEZEERER -
currency of the entity to which they relate.
As at 31 March 2011 As at 31 March 2010
RZE--%=F=t-H W-E-Z#=A=+-H
United
States
Euro Dollars
HK$ (“EUR") (“UsD”) HK$ EUR usb
BT B E B BT e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n Ti#n TiEn T TiHr T
Assets BE 305,049 156 24 NATEE 2 43
Liabilities B 194,446 41 313 N/ANE 29 18
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency
risk of HK$, EUR and USD.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity
to a 5% (2010: 5%) increase and decrease in HKS,
EUR and USD against each group entity’s functional
currency (including HK$ and RMB). 5% (2010:5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% (2010: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease in
loss for the year where each group entity’s functional
currency strengthen 5% (2010: 5%) against EUR, USD
and HK$. For a 5% (2010: 5%) weakening of each group
entity’s functional currency against EUR, USD and HKS$,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss
for the year.

HK$

BT
2011 2010
2§ —T-%F
HK$000  HK$000
TEr FHL

—2—-F

6. EWMIA(E)
6b. H%EMBEIERENBE(E)

)

HEEAF
AEBEREBEEHET - BT
RETZINERR -
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances and security deposit carried
at prevailing market rate. The Group has not used any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. The Group has not formulated a policy to manage
the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$1,129,000 (2010:
HK$1,434,000). This was mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank balances.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
gross outflows on those derivatives that require gross
settlement.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SEMIA(E)
6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies Bb. BBKEREIEBEREE(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESREGE)
Liquidity and interest risk tables A2 RHEERRSF
More than
Within 1 year but Total Carrying
iyearor  lessthan Twoyears undiscounted amount at
on demand 2years to five years cashflows 31 March
R
-Fas  BE-F WEE  KEEBEE =ZA=t-AH
EEZX (EIRmEF ka2 REAE  ZEEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TAT TAT TAT

2011 —E—-F
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETEERAs
Trade and other payables ENETREMENTIR 31,615 - - 31,615 31,615
Amount due to ultimate holding company — FE{F F ARG A BIF0IE 573 - - 573 573
32,188 - - 32,188 32,188
Derivative - gross settlement fTETE — BBLE
Convertible loan notes HRREESE - - 200,000 200,000 201,186
- - 200,000 200,000 201,186
2010 —Z-TF
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRER
Trade and other payables ENET LA ENTE 39,600 - - 39,600 39,600
Amounts due to related companies pi NGRS 168 - - 168 168
Amount due to shareholder of a subsidiary & —FSH B A AR ZUE 28,717 - - 28,717 28,500
Convertible loan notes HREEERE 200,000 - - 200,000 180,410
268,485 - - 268,485 248,678
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE VSRR (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =T ——F=ZA=+—HIFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC which accounted for
approximately 100% (2010: 99%) of the total trade and
other receivables as at 31 March 2011.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers.

B EREXARAA - 3, 2011

6.

SRTHE(E)
6b. HEEMBEIERENEE(E)

FERR
RZE——F=A=+—H &
BFHREBITEEMERAS

ERZHBERZARERSE
B\ RS BEIRR R
FEHOERSREE ZREEM
B o

REEERBRERE  AEE

TEEEHER—XEXK  BEE
EEER  BEHEELATHEM
EFRRER  BARRIRETSHER
ElE R ER © thoh - NEEE
BEEHEBRERESHELER

Bz ATl & 58 - R BT BRI
Bz & RIEL TN ZRERE -
Bt - ARREEFARAEEZ
EERERE KRR

BN YT 77 REBRRTAEES
TREENRZERT  WEBER
BpEeZEERBER -

R-F——F=ZA=1+—H &

SEMREID Z EERBREE
SPRPE - (HRKRERNEM

JEUGRIAEZELI100% ( — B —F
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =T ——F=ZA=+—HILFE

6.

76

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6C.

Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis;

° the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated
using quoted prices. Where such prices are not
available, a discounted cash flow analysis is
performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

SRTHE(E)
AFAE
cREENCREBBECATEE
TR -
EtemEENSRAE

ZL\\I{E}HﬂZ\\u/uIEﬁ$§
i—i *ETFEEEEEE%MLE %l

?ﬁ

?ETEIEZ/AEHE?Ei B

c WAREIFTHEBE
T% ' E'J?F,HHTE?/IEIELX
TAFHZ #EAWE &
ETRBESRENNT
i BRAE DT A T BRI DA BB
EEEXETMIRRESR
E/_\Tﬁ

ARRIEERR  HEMHRE
}EE%%}%$)\,@EZ$E§§E
kemaEREEREEAHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6C.

Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement
of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

6. SRMIA(E)
6c. NFEE)
RUBRRBEERERZZL2FE
TE
TRIBEYIFZ AR EEREST
EZEBMTESH - HiZr 8=
NEFERESA—E=M -

- B-#&RFEERAE
BAEERAEREET
SR AERRECRHER)F
Hj o

- F-HRAVEFEERRS
—BEAZEEN  BE
EXREAER(AER)
& (AREERITE)
BRBAZESL -

- FZRAFEFEEFA
I FEAR I A B SR T 45 B
(BEBRBABE) &
ESREZAEERDL -

31/3/2011
R-ZE——F=HA=+—H
Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total

F—H/ B/ B=ER et

Convertible loan notes IBEERAFHERIL
designated as financial BN IE 7 AT
liabilities at FVTPL BEEE

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the
both years.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

201,186 - 201,186

REEFER - BEF R KLE
- A A - 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REBMBRRMEE (8
For the year ended 31 March 2011 i Z - & ——

78

FZA=t+—HILFE

TURNOVER 7. EEH
Turnover represents the net amounts received and receivable CEBIEAEFHEHEER THINEP
for goods sold by the Group to outside customers, less returns ERE RTINS % A MR (B IE
and discounts allowed and provision of management services. ARisc B W R ENCFRE - AEE &
An analysis of the Group’s turnover is as follows: HEESHIT
2011 2010
—EB——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Sales and distribution of coal SHE KRR 104,428 86,514
Sales of clocks and other office related 4R & &
products Hib A= RBER = 4,576
Management fee income EEEIA - 5,000
104,428 96,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information
reported to the executive directors, being the chief operating
decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment, is more specifically focused on the
types of goods delivered and services provided by the Group’s
operating divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

(i) the coal mine business segment engages in mining, sales
and distribution of coal; and

(i)  others

During the year ended 31 March 2011, executive directors
concluded the provision of management services and the
clocks and other office related products segments are
not significant as a reportable segment of the Group and
accordingly prior year information were restated to conform to

AEBEEDBREANTESTRELZ
B EBEERRENERERK
FHEERE - REIBERAEELE
RN G 5 R iR RS 2 JR R
EITOE - Bt - ARBEREFEY
BREERFSH 2 LERAIRED TR
W

) REEBDBEEHRKFAR - H
ERDHE K

iy  EHAh

HE-F——F=A=t+—ALLF
B - WTEFREIREIE RS R
EU R MR AZENES TEBA
SEEAREHE  EHEEIIEE
AR UHAAEEES) -

the current year’s presentation.

DI R
TR2IIAEEELGH B2 4
i RERRLER -

(@ Segment revenue and results (a)
The following tables present turnover, results and
expenditure information for the Group’s business
segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEz—8——F=A=+-—H1

FE
Coal mine

business Others Total
JRIEZE A Hith 5% s
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

SEGMENT TURNOVER: DEEERE
Sales to external customers HE TFHINES 104,428 - 104,428
SEGMENT RESULTS DEHEE (67,655) (581) (68,236)
Interest income B A 418
Net unallocated expenses Reel oy 25 (5,022)
Finance costs A RO (19,845)
Loss before tax brEERIES 1R (92,685)
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8.

80

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

8. 78
(a)

eI )

RS 34 ()
BE-ZT-ZF=A=+—-HL
FE

Coal mine
business Others Total
BIEER H MR 4z
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET

SEGMENT TURNOVER: DHEER

Sales to external customers HETFEINEP 86,514 9,576 96,090
SEGMENT RESULTS DHEHEE (9,592) 2,537 (7,055)
Interest income B A 120
Net unallocated expenses Reel oy 25 (6,116)
Finance costs BB RS (18,756)
Loss before tax FrEi A ES 18 (31,807)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment result represents the profit earned
by/loss from each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, interest
income, change in fair value of convertible loan notes
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the executive directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

AmEDE R EREKE
KU FESPIL Z 5t BERER © 2
BREEARE D P RITHEA
BEE=ME - FMBUA - AHRAE
ERBZATFEEPLBREKAE
BIE D BRI 28 5, B 18 -
It Th R E IR D Be M AR FHA R
TEEREZTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mE B RRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 & Z - ——%=A=+—HIEE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ZEERW
()  Segment assets and liabilities b)) PEEERBE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-Z——F=HA=+t—-HLt
FE

ASSETS BE

Segment assets DEREE

Unallocated assets Recln 2 BE

Total assets wEE

LIABILITIES afE

Segment liabilities DEEE

Unallocated liabilities RetlED 2 BE

Total liabilities BAaE

OTHER SEGMENT Hit &R :
INFORMATION:

Amounts included in the FTAD SR Fg BB
measure of segment profitor ~ AIEAEHE Y
loss or segment assets: o

Additions to property, plant and JREWE - BE KRG
equipment

Depreciation and amortisation — #T€ [ # ¢4
Impairment of intangible assets &4 ER{E

Impairment of goodwil EERE
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWE - BEK
plant and equipment B

Amounts regularly provided to £ HAa £ B4
the chief operating decision  JR%E & 124 B MEH
maker but not included inthe A S ¥Ei& Tk 5185t
measure of segment profitor &7 &% :

loss:
Interest income FBUA
Interest expense B
Income tax credit FTig i e

ERAREEBRAT - 3 2011 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7PEER®
(b)  Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b)) PEEEFAGE)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-—E-EF=A=+—H1L
FE
Coal mine
business Others  Unallocated Total
RIS Hfth  Ree#on R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TR TR

ASSETS
Segment assets DEEE 254,677 1 254,678
Unallocated assets KD 2 BE 288,555
Total assets EEE 543,233
LIABILITIES =i
Segment liabilities DEERE 33,268 8,290 41,558
Unallocated liabilities Kee#ozBE 242 274
Total liabilities BwaE 283,832
OTHER SEGMENT HitipEER -

INFORMATION:
Amounts included in the AN ERFSEES D

measure of segment profit or ~ SBEEE S
loss or segment assets:
Additions to property, plant and KB « BiE kB

equipment (Note) (P&E) 6,447 - 6,447
Depreciation and amortisation & N # 4,848 30 4,878
Net reversal of allowance for ~ EWEHRIRREE 2 B

doubtful debts of trade HEE

receivables - (553) (6553)
Write down of inventories FEME 16,800 - 16,800
Impairment of goodwill EERE 5,400 - 5,400
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - MEMEEZ

plant and equipment gl - 100 100

Amounts regularly provided to £ Bl B LR K E 1R
the chief operating decision B &5+ A 5485 F
maker but not included inthe ~ S E R B2 £58 ¢
measure of segment profit or

loss:
Interest income FEWA (84) ) (30) (120)
Interest expense AEFAX 217 - 18,539 18,756
Income tax expense PrSHR X 2,000 163 - 2,163
Note: The amount excluded the property, plant and equipment MizE - S TBEEAENEB AR Z
acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries. ME - BB MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. NEER®
(b)  Segment assets and liabilities (continued) ) PBEEERBEE)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances RERSERBAENEHEMS

and allocating resources between segments: [

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments - BRETHEFEBRSURR
other than bank balances and cash and security BN FTBEENE
deposit. Assets used jointly by reportable segments EAHREDLE - AFHES
are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned BHRRFERZEEZER
by individual reportable segments; and Al 3RS o fEPT BREL N S 2

EENE R

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments - KEfMREEAR MW
other than amounts due to related companies/ BATRE,SEIERA
shareholder of a subsidiary/ultimate holding RIFE - EEMREEEI
company, deferred tax liabilities and convertible LAk EEZEI - BT
loan notes. Liabilities for which reportable segments BEE»REZAHRE D
are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to oo AImE DB RAE
segment assets. ZBERSEEERDS

fig
(©)  Geographical information € @&
The following table presents turnover and certain TR&EF AN LB R EE 5
assets and expenditure information for the Group by ZREEFNYNETEERRYE
geographical location. ke
PRC
Europe Hong Kong (other than Hong Kong) Total
E0| i TE (FEEEHE) fam
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
% “T-%F “B——-F “T-%F “E--f% “2-%F “B--% “T-%F
HK$000 HK$000 ~HK$000 HK$000 = HK$000 HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$000
TEr TEr | TEzx ThEr @ TEr TEr @ FTEx  TEx
Salestoexternal  HEF
customers HHNEPR - 1,123 - 5119 | 104428 89848 = 104428 96,090
Non-current assets ~ JEREEE - - - 123,755 179,703 = 128,755 179,703
Information about major customers EBRXEEZF2EH

For the year ended 31 March 2010, a single customer
of the coal mine business of the Group with revenue
contributed to the Group amounting to approximately
HK$10,670,000 had individually accounted for over 10%
of the Group’s total revenue. The customer is a new
customer to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, there was no

individual customer contributed more than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

REBEZEZE-_ZE—ZF=-A=+—
HIEFE  AEBEBEER
BE-RPAAEBNEERY
10,670,0007%8 7T + 1ERIME A& E
BUZR10% A E - REEZE T —
ZEZA=ZF+—HIFE  ZF¥
FAREB TR -

REBE—T——F=A=+—H

IEFE - SEER TP EAEE
#BUER10% LA F -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMBRRMEE (8
For the year ended 31 March 2011 i Z - & ——

9.

FZRA=t+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS 9. HWMERAK
2011 2010
—B——F —=—2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Interest expenses on: FMBFRAX
—amount due to shareholder ofa - FEfT—FREIM B A FIARER
subsidiary FIE 255 217
— effective interest expenses on - ATBREERE R
convertible loan notes (Note 26) F B (FFE26) 19,590 18,539
19,845 18,756
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 10. FIEBI(FAxX)ER
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FiBT
The (credit) charge comprises: BREES) X HEE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEANER
— current year - RFE = -
— over-provision in prior years - BEFEHBERE = -
Tax in other jurisdictions HAth el AR 2 T8
— current year - RFE = 2,671
— under-provision in prior years - BEFEEETIR 107 -
107 2,671
Deferred tax (Note 28) IRIERIIA (MI7E28) (10,837) (508)
(10,730) 2,163

84

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. Hong Kong Profits Tax has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
as there was no estimated assessable profit derived from Hong
Kong for both years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March
2010.

EBFBRIRMEFE G BRI
FZ165% N - AREBE=-ZT——
FZA=Zt+t-—HBR-Z—ZTF=A
“t+—HIMEFERLEREEE
ZIEFTERBUAER - MU ERN A
EHREEB B ETIELEE
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RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =T ——F=ZA=+—HIFE

10.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations in the PRC, one of
the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC is entitled to
exemption from PRC income tax in the first two years from the
first profit-making year, followed by a 50% reduction of PRC
income tax for the following three years.

The tax (credit) charges for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

10.

Fre®i ()| & (@)
BERFEARELMBOEMESR A
([EEMBBE]) REEMSHREZ
Bl - FENBEARMEFE 2
FREA25% °

REMADEEREL 2 RIAZB /A
AR BAREGE -

BREBEHEEEIMRY) - AEBERHE
ez A —HBAR B H & EE
M AR AT B M4 F] R R A P
PRSM - R =F 2 PBEIMESHAIR
¥ o

AEEREGER) T HEEGAEZ2EK
mRFBRFRIEIE 2 HROT ¢

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before tax KrE R E 1B (92,685) (31,807)
Tax at domestic income tax rate of 25% I A {555 5 K25%
(2010: 16.5%) (ZZ—ZF : 16.5%)
HE 7 HIE (23,171) (5,248)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  {EFF S 2 G 2
for tax purposes 12,874 4,848
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax  HERFUA Z TR i 2
purpose (262) (36)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AMERZ AT =5 &
differences and tax losses not FIEEE 2 ST E
recognised 637 2,755
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 107 -
Effect of different tax rates of REMRIERRLE 2
subsidiaries operating in other B AR TR E 2 &
jurisdictions (915) (156)
Tax (credit) expense for the year FRAFEGER)FAX (10,730) 2,163
EEEREXARAE - F# 2011 85
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FE BRI ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &

11.

12.

86

Emic e

FZRA=t+—HILFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. FRABE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting): FERNEEEHERGTA) TY&IE -
2011 2010
—2——F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Cost of inventories sold HEFE KA 104,357 88,012
Staff costs (excluding directors’ B IR (EEHMERIN
remuneration (Note 14)): (FFzE14) -
Basic salaries and allowances BT & KRR, 4,919 6,568
Retirement benefits scheme RINEFFT B R
contributions 603 196
5,522 6,764
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEMEREZTE
equipment 2,979 1,677
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 2 HHEFTABERE)
(included in cost of sales) 6,693 3,201
Net reversal of allowance for doubtful — FEI &k RERR M 2 BB F 45
debts of trade receivables (included (T AEfMhAREWA)
in other operating income) - (553)
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 822 680
Operating leases charges onrented ~ BREAEME 2 KLHEEH
premises 1,762 1,852
Net exchange (gain) loss b 5 (s ) B85 (800) 1,318
Write down of inventories (included in 77 & (5T A S &AL AN)
cost of sales) = 16,800
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE¥% « BiE KL E 2 KB
equipment 47 100
Waiver of long outstanding trade ReERBRERENER
payables (809) -
Interest income FLEMA (418) (120)
DIVIDEND 12. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 REBEZ-_ET——F=A=+—HItHF
March 2011, nor has any dividend been proposed since the ERMERMNSEZKNIE  ma

end of the reporting period (2010: Nil).

& B A R AR R 48 2 2 R (S f]
BE(ZT—FF &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

13. LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is based
on the following data:

13. BREE—EXREE

RRBEEAREFATRERN N H#
SBERIIRE T BUREE

2011 2010
—2——fF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FiBT
Loss [gi=]
Loss for the purpose of basic and FREAN LS EIE
diluted loss per share 2 BB 81,094 31,789
2011 2010
—2——fF —TEF
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary FIASHE GRREAR KR
shares for the purpose of basic and BUEEE 2 TR
diluted loss per share b8 765,373,584 765,373,584

The calculations of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 do not assume the
conversion of the convertible loan notes since its conversion
would result in a decrease in loss per share. The basic and
diluted loss per share are the same.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

A SRR N RS SHER
BRRS  WTERE-F——F=
A=+ AR-F-FE=A=+—
Fl L MBI 4 AR 9 54
HEME - TRERREH AN
A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R B HRM T (R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%

ZE——F=A=t—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 14. EERaREEAEMSE

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments @ E=Me
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2010: ERSENERZ(ZE—F
six) directors were as follows: FRRB)EZZHe0T
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-E——F=A=+—HL
FE

Executive directors:
Lo Fong Hung
Wang Xiangfei
Kwan Man Fai

Independent non-executive
directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond
Lam Ka Wai, Graham
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey

88

HTES
Bhu
IR
Ebe
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KR
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 14, EEREREBEAEMS (@)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@)  Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@ Z=EME(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 Bz—_E-EF=A=+—AH1L
FE
Other emoluments
Hivie
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
e EER RINEN
e Hi @ REE3 Fak]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Executive directors: BTES:
Lo Fong Hung ZyEal - - - -
Wang Xiangfei T - 240 13 253
Kwan Man Fai e - 240 13 253
Independent non-executive BIFHTES:
directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEVHE 240 - - 240
Lam Ka Wai, Graham MRE 240 - - 240
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey BRiErE 240 - - 240
720 480 26 1,226

There was no arrangement under which directors waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments for the two years
ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010, except Ms.
Lo Fong Hung has agreed to waive her director’s fee
from 25 March 2011 onwards.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b)  Senior management’s emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2010: nil) was director of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments
of the two (2010: five) highest paid individuals were as

14. EERSREEAEME @)

(b)

SREEAEME

RASBRERSHALF @ =
F2(ZE-ZF B)RARAE
B ZEFHEEEN L - MA
—T-ZF  AR)EReFAL

follows: ZBewT
2011 2010
—B2——F —ET-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries, allowances and other e SRR
benefits E 1,287 2,237
Retirement benefits scheme IRIREFET IR
contributions 9 19
1,296 2,256

The emoluments of two (2010: five) highest paid
employees fall in the following bands:

ME(ZT—FF DRI\
BEZHMENF TN HE :

Number of individuals

A
2011 2010
—2——fF —TEF
Emoluments bands B & F [
Nil = HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2 5
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%& 0%
2,000,000/ 7T = -
2 5

(c)  No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the
two years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

BEE - ARELRAFATE
EAALBHH AL (TEMH
SRR S AR E SN
AR 2 150 SHERRE Y
BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mE B RRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y%  BENXE

Furniture,
Leasehold equipment
land and Leasehold Plant and and motor ~ Construction
buildings improvements machinery vehicles in progress Total
BELHE HE RER b
BF nEEE BE  RERAE HRIE a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TaL AL T TaL T T
cost A
At 1 April 2009 RZEZNEMA-A - 12 23,611 31,429 - 55,152
Exchange realignment ERHEE 15 1 41 5 1 63
Additions NE 57 - 1,242 182 4,966 6,447
Disposals it - (13) (636) (336) - (1,085)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B A 7,359 - 9,863 1,131 437 18,790
Transfer i 438 - 4,966 - (5,404) -
At 31 March 2010 RZE-ZF=fA=1-H 7,869 - 39,087 32,411 - 79,367
Exchange realignment 3 366 - 802 83 - 1,251
Additions HE - - 2,487 2,212 - 4,699
Disposal it - - (27) (141) - (168)
At 31 March 2011 WZE——%ZfA=1-H 8,235 - 42,349 34,565 - 85,149
ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION AND RHEREH
AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2009 RZEENENA-H - 9 23,600 31,300 - 54,995
Exchange realignment 3 1 1 20 2 - 24
Charge for the year REETH 414 - 1,074 189 - 1677
Eliminated on disposals HERLHH - (96) 636) (229) - (955)
At 31 March 2010 RZE-2F=A=1-H 45 - 24,058 31,268 - 55,741
Exchange realignment A 25 - 97 10 - 132
Charge for the year FEEZL 538 - 1,953 488 - 2979
Eliminated on disposal R - - 9 (39 - (48)
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=fA=1-H 978 - 26,099 31727 - 58,804
CARRYING VALUES KaE
At 31 March 2011 RZE——%=A=1-H 7,257 - 16,250 2,838 - 26,345
At 31 March 2010 W-5-%5=A=1+-H 7454 - 15,029 1,143 - 23,626
BB EREEXBRAT - Fik 2011 91



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  15. ¥1% - BiER %X @)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are it BMERLEEBENESE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per LTV FERFHRITE -
annum:
Leasehold land and buildings ~ Over the shorter of the term of HETMNETFT % H & F 5 =
the leases or 3.33% 3.33% v M &=
=)
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of HEMERE KRHEEFHNK15%
the leases or 15% 2 EEREE
Plant and machinery 10% to 25% 5 B= Ka i 22 10%£25%
Furniture, equipment and 10% to 25% R BER 10%E25%
motor vehicles aE
The carrying value of leasehold land and buildings shown tXBERCEAETHRETEREERES
above comprises: & -
2011 2010
—2——fF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT

Outside Hong Kong, held on leases of fIAEHEEN
10 to 50 years R10E50FHAFAE 7,257 7,454
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BILEE
Exploration
and
evaluation Mining Patents and
assets rights trademarks Total
BRR SRER
THEE PR G mm

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
THT TR TR TR

COST D%
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFMA—H - - 652 652
Exchange realignment B 5 253 120 11 384
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note )) B2 & (Fft3Ti) 44,380 97,620 - 142,000
At 31 March 2010 R-Z—ZF=A=1+—H 44,633 97,740 663 143,036
Exchange realignment [ 3 = 1,512 3,312 - 4,824
At 31 March 2011 NZZE——F=A=1+—H 46,145 101,052 663 147,860

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION — Zit#is4 R mE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2009 RZZTNFMA—H - - 652 652
Exchange realignment BEE 3t 5 - 4 11 15
Charge for the year (Note ii) RNEE ST H (M) - 3,201 - 3,201
At 31 March 2010 R-E—ZF=A=+—H - 3,205 663 3,868
Exchange realignment BE 5 AR - 224 - 224
Impairment loss for the year KEEREER 13,255 28,340 - 41,595
Charge for the year (Note ii) REF X (M) - 6,693 - 6,693
At 31 March 2011 RZZE—F=A=+—H 13,255 38,462 663 52,380
CARRYING VALUES SREE
At 31 March 2011 RZZE—F=A=1+—H 32,890 62,590 - 95,480
At 31 March 2010 R-Z—ZEF=A=1+—H 44,633 94,535 - 139,168
Patents and trademarks rights have definite useful lives and are EFELREEEZFERTHAR
amortised on a straight-line basis over five years. WIZEER A F B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

94

Notes:

The mining right and the exploration and evaluation assets
acquired as part of a business combination during the year
ended 31 March 2010 were initially recognised at their fair
values on acquisition with reference to professional valuation
which is based on discounted cash flow method with reference
to the operating environment of each of the operating entities.

Mining right

The board conducted impairment review of the mining rights
at the end of each reporting period with reference to the
professional valuation which is based on discounted cash flow
approach as adopted by the valuer. The calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period and discount rate of 25.9% (2010: 22.5%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit (“CGU”).
Cash flows beyond 5 years period have been extrapolated using
zero growth rate per annum. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market. During the year ended 31 March 2010, as
the relevant amount of CGU exceeded their carrying amounts,
no impairment losses were recognised in profit or loss. During
the year ended 31 March 2011, due to the decline of average
selling price of coal which has resulted in a decline of gross
profit and recurring losses incurred by this CGU, the recoverable
amount of this CGU was less than the carrying amount of
mining rights. Accordingly, impairment loss of approximately
HK$28,340,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets

The board conducted impairment review of the exploration
and evaluation assets at the end of each reporting period
with reference to the professional valuation which is based
on discounted cash flow approach as adopted by the valuer.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period and discount rate 25.8%
(2010: 22.5%) using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the CGU. Cash flows beyond 5 years period have been
extrapolated using zero growth rate per annum. Changes in
selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market. During the
year ended 31 March 2010, as the relevant amount of CGU
exceeded their carrying amounts, no impairment losses were
recognised in profit or loss. During the year ended 31 March
2011, due to the decline of average selling price of coal which
has resulted in a decline of gross profit and recurring losses
incurred by this CGU, the recoverable amount of this CGU was
less than the carrying amount of exploration right. Accordingly,
impairment loss of approximately HK$13,255,000 were
recognised in profit or loss.

16.

BEERE (&)

BT -

HE_T-—TF=A=+—ALF
WO R AR R VR P B
BEBAG—H5  LSREELE
BEBEERAZURRS R
R 2 SIS 4025 LR ES 2
ATAEW®E -

g

EETENEREBEERBFL2RBIL
HEMETRMZ BHIRIB & R e AE
B BEGEEYRBEETRT
A EFERERE R T MM KA
BrHEenEEA  MRBMIESE
EEM([REELSEN]) 2 BB
MEELETERK 2B ji™SHTE
ZIRATL BB E259% (ZE—F
0 225%) c hEHIE%BZRE
REBESTFTHERRER - €8
MEEBERAEBIRABFENREM
BAREHEHAE - HEZZ
—EFZA=+—BLtFE AR
BEESBNUARTBEREXESE
HE - HEREEIENERSER -
BE-_Z——F=A=+—HI=F
E - mRERTFHEEEERZR
SEABUEE T REEES
BRL  ZREELEMZATE
SHEONRBEREE - At -
S5l B /85 18 49 28,340,000 78 7T A 18 25

o

BEREEE

EEENEREPEERBFL2RBIL
HEMETERMZ BHIRIB & R e AE
B EEAHBEEDHERTHEEE
TR - ZeTEFERRRERTH
M BBEZReRERA Bk
MRS EL BN SHEREARAN
B R 2 B AT SR 2 BAT
LhRBRIR R 25.8% (ZZE—ZF -
22.5%) - AFHEBZIRERER
BEFTHMRRHE - SELER
AN B i B E ) R B T 5 R AR
BECERHE - HEZT—TF
ZA=+—BLEFE BHRREE
ABEMNEECEBAZEREE -
MEREGEREBSER - HE=
T——FZAZ+—HIFE &
RERFHEBCEERZREES
BRESZ TR REEHEEIER
Do ZRSEABNZ JRE S5
LREIREZ BREE o it 0 RBE
B8 4913,255,0005 T8 22 FER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE BB R AR MR ()

E_F——F=A=1t-HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &&= =%

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Details of the Group’s mining right and exploration right are as

16. BEEE @)
E R R I BT

follows:—
Mines Locations Expiry dates Note
5 it B ZI8A MiaE
Mining right
PRUERE
Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine Bei Ta Mountain (Jb#5 (1), 30 June 2018 -
SRER R BR Qitai County (% & ), —T-N\FXA=T+H

Xinjiang Uygur

Autonomous Region

FrEEERaAm)

EEEREER

pig il
Exploration right
R
Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine Bei Ta Mountain (b5 (1), 22 October 2011 (a)
EEERERE Qitai County (37 & &), —E——F+A=-+=-H

Xinjiang Uygur

Autonomous Region

GriEgERaaE)

FEETRARRE

pig il
Note: Pz -
(@)  The exploration right represents licence for the right for @ HEEEEESREEEHEETEHR

exploration in the specified location in the PRC, which is
included in the exploration and evaluation assets of the Group
and the period of this exploration right is 2 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the exploration right
was renewed to October 2011. As at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements by the directors, the
Group has not changed the intention to apply for any extension
of the licence for the exploration right until the application of the
mining right for Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine has been approved.
The Group is confident that the licence will be renewed by the
relevant authorities upon expiry date.

The directors of the Company believed that, with reference to
the legal opinion, the Group owns the priority to transfer the
exploration right to the mining right before the next expiration
of exploration right and the Group possesses the right to renew
the exploration right 30 days before expiration.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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HHRMFEEE - LHREZHR

RBE-_Z——F=A=+—AL
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BR - REETENBEEHERBIL
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17. GOODWILL 17. &
HK$’000
T
COST [5&S
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFWMA—H 17,004
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries UG BRI A AIRFRE A 20,465
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 RZE—FEF=A=+—HK
—T——%=A=+—H 37,469
IMPAIRMENT RE
At 1 April 2009 RZZETNFEA—H 17,004
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAREERBEEE 5,400
At 31 March 2010 R-—E—ETF=A=+—H 22,404
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAREERBEREE 15,065
At 31 March 2011 R-—E——F=A=+—H 37,469
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2011 R—E——F=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2010 R—E—ZEF=A=+—H 15,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE VSRR M ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =T ——F=ZA=+—HIFE

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
two CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business
combination with reference to professional valuation which
is based on discounted cash flow method with reference to
the operating environment of each of the operating entities.
Goodwill has been allocated to two CGUs for the purpose of
goodwill impairment testing. At the end of the reporting period,
the carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2011 allocated
to these subsidiaries are as follows:

17.

EE ()
HEBAHRBZAERE2EERKE
BERCEERERESELHOMHAR

> REBNAERME  HEREEH
H%iﬁﬁﬁﬁkA{#Zﬁﬂlﬁ{ﬁéiﬁ
fr - RABREAENS - BESD
REMERSELEMN - NREHHE
BRE R_F-——F=ZA=+—H
DEEZFHBERRZHEEREEN
T

‘m]

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Qitai County Zexu Trading Company & &8 Z/BEmEARET AR
Limited - 4,832
Mulei County Kai Yuen Coal Company /K& EZg|iRE KB RE (T AT
Limited - 10,233
- 15,065

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs are determined
from value-in-use calculations. That calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period, and discount rate of 25.9% using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs (2010: 22.5%). Cash flows
beyond 5 years period have been extrapolated using zero
growth rate per annum. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, due to the decline
of average selling price of coal which has resulted in a decline
of gross profit and recurring losses incurred by these CGUSs,
the recoverable amount of these CGUs were less than the
carrying amount of goodwill plus the carrying amount of

IR S EAE BN 2 TG & RER K
CREBENELAET - ZTEEAR
RERFHRRETBRBEE R RETRE
Al RREIREEEEN 2 EERH
BEEKSERR 2B ﬁﬁl_‘ﬁ E'EEHEZT)EE
AL RBEER E259% (ZF—FF :
22.5%) ° ﬂi%ﬂ?ﬁﬂfﬁZﬁi/ﬂLE*Ey%
BETHRERMER - EEREEKRA
BHRIBEER R ETIBRKED
TERIFTE -

HE_ZT—F+-_A=1+—HILF
B BREXRTFHEBENZERS
EEBUESZEFREEHEER
Lo ZEReESBEN 2 NE S5
DREEZEREEMA FEBEEFE

identifiable net assets. Based on the aforesaid value-in-use ZHRME - BRELAFHEBTE
calculations, the directors considered an impairment loss of ECBERE R EE_ZE—F

goodwill approximately HK$4,832,000 (2010: HK$1,732,000)
and HK$10,233,000 (2010: HK$3,668,000) respectively in
relation to goodwill arising on acquisition of Qitai County Zexu
Trading Company Limited and Mulei County Kai Yuen Coal
Company Limited during the year ended 31 March 2011.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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18.

19.

20.

98

SECURITY DEPOSIT

The balance represents a bank deposit placed for securing
the Group’s obligation in environmental restoration, which is
interest-bearing at the prevailing bank saving interest rate and
can be withdrawn upon the expiry of the Group’s mining right.

8. REEE

BHREARERBEITRBERAEM
FEZRTER  HEHZRITHE
MEGHE - WRAIAAKE 2 REEE
T EEER -

INVENTORIES 19. FE
2011 2010
=F——F ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Consumables HE SR 1,231 409
Finished goods RIBK G 35,470 62,998
36,701 63,407

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

0. BRERKHEMEKRIE

2011 2010
—2——F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T T
Trade and bills receivables TEWE Tk N IE N =i 1,542 12,350
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts of i : FEURE R FRAE B
trade receivables (719) (719)
823 11,631
Prepayments, deposits and other TEN A © 1BS REMEWFIE
receivables 3,861 1,781
4,684 13,412

The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely on cash
basis or with payment in advance. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of 90
days.

The Group’s sales to other customers are on open account
terms. Trading terms with customers are largely on credit,
except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. Invoices are normally payable within 30 days
of issuance, except for certain well-established customers,
where the terms are extended to 180 days.

AEBERRREPIELRZHERRS
NIRE /EELATAMNFR - LET
MERFCEPME  AEELEZ
FHEEHROH -

AEEREMBEFER ZHENREE
FRETT - BRIEFE—RBERLNR
Gh o RBHBFFPHELTEERS
HBRETETHERERIZERPRE
180K EE SN - — AN BEREELIE
30RATHR °
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWE R HALMEWREIE (&)
Included in the trade receivables are bills receivables amounted ST AN E R 2 FE R 15 49594,00074
to approximately HK$594,000 (2010: HK$10,117,000) aged TL(ZZE—FF : 10,117,000 7T ) °
within one year. R A —FNR -

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade REPE AR - ERERRER
and bills receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts was as ZE (B REEEEE) ZREDT
follows: wmr
2011 2010
—EB——F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Within 90 days 90K 740 7,248
91 — 180 days 91 RE180KA = 4,383
181 — 365 days 181K E365K K - -
Over 1 year HBim1aE 83 _
823 11,631
(@  As of the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of (@ AWEERELERE - 2@HER
trade receivables that were past due but not impaired are RV E 2 BN S AR R D AT 10
as follows: ™

Past due but not impaired

EEHERHEERE

Neither
past

due nor 91 to Over

Total impaired <90days 365 days 1 year
K@ E

RHER ) PNES
B WE LPR0X 365Kk  EB1F

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000  HK$000
T THET TAET TAT TAET

31/3/2011 4
=A=+—H 823 740 - 83 -
31/3/2010 —E-TF

—HA=1+—H 11,631 11,631 - - -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)

100

(continued)

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to wide range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. The Group did not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
at 31 March 2011 related to an individual customer that
had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believes that no impairment
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables in aggregate during the year are as follows:

20. B

@)

BERR H Al KRR (1)
(&)

REH R HBRRE 2 EUE K
HETRERCERCEREFPA
8 - NEREY BB U FHEHTE
(ERCIERGHRL I

RZE——F=—A=+—HE®
HERBECERERS R —%
BERRNEBCHRRIFZES ©
HMWNMEEE RIWESKEE) - M
I E SRR AR 28Uk E
HIREBEAR  SEEEREE
IETL A RS AMELRERE - K
EEWER I SEBRIT A AT
@ e

FREKEFRREREE E5E
BT ¢

2011 2010
—=2——F —=-2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
Balance at beginning of the year ~ F #4488 719 600
Exchange realignment b B = 1
Acquired on acquisition of G NG =N
subsidiaries - 671
Recognised during the year FERER - 118
Amount recovered during the year SR Y BIFIE - 671)
Balance at end of the year F i 719 719

Included in the impairment loss are individually
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance
of HK$719,000 (2010: HK$719,000) which has been
in financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

There were no movements for the allowance for doubtful
debts of other receivables during the two years ended 31
March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

S ABEER Z [ERI 2R EEYK
B A EREFERT19,0008 T (=
Z—FF : 719,000 7T) - H
HRMBRE L ERER - A&
30 4 Bh L S A BRI

o
AR °

HE_Z——F=A=1+—8x
—E-ZEF=A=+—HIME
F G D FE U GRIA RER BB
ZEE) o
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21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash of the Group comprised bank
balances and cash held by the Group and short-term
deposits amounting to approximately HK$196,598,000 (2010:
HK$283,347,000) with an original maturity of three months or
less. The bank balances and bank deposits carried interest at
market rates ranging from 0% to 1.49% (2010: 0% to 1.35%)
per annum.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:

21.

RITEFRES

AEBZRTEGFTRRASBELASE
BRFEZHRTEFNEE:  UKEER
B AZEASUAZEHER
#9196,598,000 B L (= F — T F :
283,347,000 7T ) ° RITHEF RIR
TEFENTOEE149E(ZFE—F
F 0EE1.35E) 2 MBFHETE °

RITEFMREERE TIIAEBER
WEEE B AN Z SNEFHE Z 7R

2011 2010

—2——-F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET THTT

Great Britain Pound g 1 6
EUR BT 10 138
HK$ HIT 192,921 N/A TNE R
ush ETT 7 38

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade
payables were as follows:

22, BNERRHEMENRE

K& REERE - BNERZRER
DT

2011 2010

—F——F e

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FiBT

Within 90 days 90K 4,053 12,898
91 - 180 days 91 RE180KA 1,836 1,253
181 — 365 days 181K E365KK 1,167 2,795
Over 1 year a1 F 678 655
Trade payables ENER 7,734 17,601
Receipt in advance B IE 5,740 1,373
Other payables and accruals E e A K BT E 18,141 20,626
31,615 39,600
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22.

23.

24.

25.

102

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period of purchases of goods is 180 days.
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

At 31 March 2011, a balance payable to Mr. Liang Jin You
(“Mr. Liang”), a former director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group, amounting to HK$828,000 (2010: HK$1,340,000) was
included in other payables. The amount was unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

22.

BN &R R E AR IR (#)
REmm FHEERRI80X - A%
EE S EM AR EEBER - R
BRNFRERNEEMRABE -

MN-E——F=A=+—08 " ENXK
EEETHBRARZATESRER
FeAd ([ R5EE]) B#828,000/8 L (=
T T4 ¢ 1,340,000/ 70 ) 2 KEh
B AHMENTE - AR
B Tt ERBREREE -

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 23. E{BEELTRIE
2011 2010
=F——F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Asia Peace Development Limited BFERERAR([EHM])
(“Asia Peace”) = 168

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand.

Mr. Liang has beneficial interests in these related companies.

AMOUNT DUE TO SHAREHOLDER OF A
SUBSIDIARY

As of 31 March 2010, the amount represented an unsecured
loan with principal amount of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately of HK$28,500,000), bearing interest at 1.5%
and repayable 6 months after date of the drawdown of the
loan, and the loan could be renewed for a further 6 months
period. The loan was fully repaid during the year ended 31
March 2011.

AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount due was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

24.

25.

BERRBEAEER Tt RARE

g

REEFAZEWENT 2 Bl o

B

FEAY — BB 2 R RRARIE

N-ZE-TEF=A=+—H HEX
I LA £ 58 A R#25,000,0007T (48
& 7 4928,500,0005 7T ) 7 EE R E
o1 5B B RARIEERE K H
BANEAEE  ERAIBEENEA
HE - #HE—_E——F=A=1+—H
IHFEEREZHEE -

FEAS B AR R D R FIR

BRRBAEER Tt ERERE

g
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible loan notes with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The notes are denominated in HK$
and entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
notes and their settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by
the Company on the date of such allotment and issue. If the
convertible loan notes has not been converted, the Company
shall repay the principal amount of the outstanding convertible
bond to Ascent Goal at 13 March 2011.

The convertible loan notes contain two components, liability
and equity elements. The equity element is presented in equity
heading (“convertible loan notes reserve”). The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 11.14%.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible loan
notes for the year is set out below:

26.

RREEERE
RZZFZENF=ZA+MHAB  ARFAR
SEAK 31T X Bt #£400,000,000% &A%
BONB Lz MR 2 AR - MEBEE%
177N & 48 %8 /5 200,000,000 T 2 F
BAMBREERE - ZFZ2EBET
FHE - BTEBEARIRZERR Y
BTHAPEEERR T —F =8
+= B8 - BERIRERESR0.20
B (A TFHAR) S cERRERARE
A% - EIAEFZE 41,000,000 70 2 15
oo BRI RME 2RO B2
MRERERETHRRNQRMEE
HEBTEBRNSFTEHEERSE
B o WA RREERERESER -
AARER=_ZE——F=A+=HE
EEEREETRRERZASE -

HREERER SaEREEZME

7o B =N ([ AT
%E%ﬁeﬁﬁﬁﬁnaﬂd BEHPCE
BRFIR A11.14E

ATRBEEEREESS 2 FNED
Ep N,

2011 2010

—=2——F —=-2F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

Carrying amount at 1 April RIOA—BZREE 180,410 161,871
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) A 23 (FEE9) 19,590 18,539
Derecognition on maturity BIERAR I FERR (200,000) -
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZKHAE - 180,410

An extinguishment loss of approximately HK$412,000 has
been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2011.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

BE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—HItHF
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26.

104

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued)

On 11 February 2011, the Company, entered into a deed of
amendment with Ascent Goal, to extend the maturity date of
the convertible loan notes for 36 months and the conversion
period will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 14
March 2011 (date of extension) to 13 March 2014. Apart from
the extension of the maturity date and the conversion period,
all terms of the convertible loan notes remain unchanged from
the original terms.

Following the change of functional currency from HK$ to
RMB, the board of directors is of the view that the convertible
loan notes upon extension of maturity date was no longer
convertible at a fixed for fixed relationship. Accordingly, the
convertible loan notes was designated as a derivative financial
instrument at FVTPL and was classified as a non-current
liability in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The convertible loan notes was valued by the directors of
the Company with reference to a valuation report issued
by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer
not connected to the Group. The change in fair value of the
convertible note of approximately HK$1,186,000 have been
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2011.

The assumptions adopted for the valuation of the convertible
loan notes are as follows:

(1) The estimation of risk free rate has made reference to
the yield of Exchange Fund Bill with same duration as the
convertible loan notes;

(2)  The estimation of volatility for the underlying share price
has considered the historical price movements of those
companies engaged in relatively to similar industry;

(8) The discount rate was arrived at based on the
Company’s credit rating and select comparable
corporate bonds with similar maturity and credit risk
to derive the range of comparable yield to maturity as
of date of valuation and the median range has been
adopted.

26.

AR EEER @)

WZZE——F_fF+—8 ARFH
BIZRINERT R - BT RBREE
=g 2 BRI EIc6E A R E B G
EY - E——F=A+mHE(EEH
S AE —E—ME=A+=
H - BRERZIEBE REIREIN - FTE
Fria ik i B BB IG IR R A G

\ari

REBRETERARKER &S
ER/ARBEERER AT
iR DA E BRR T AT 8838 o [HitE » AR
BEERBRREEREAFEIIRL
EBREAREZITEER T AR
BB RENERIERBAE

RBEEZREAARERZLER
REBERBE B IS ERGEME
EFEEMERARMEAGERS
HEITHE - TRBREEZERZATE
BE 41,186,000/ TE RNEE T
——FZA=Z+—BILFEZIEFRE

5
=7]
o ©

AHRRESERBHERAZBRET

(1) WERFIESEF PR A AR
B EAER 2 SNE R S F AR
B S

@ MHEREREZEFCEERE
EUTE Y AR 2B ERE
B

Q) MBEERBARBZEEFAKL
ABERUIBHREEERRZ
FEEAELBRARESMER -
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued)
The fair value of the convertible loan notes was calculated using
the binomial model. Major parameter adopted in the calculation
of the fair value are summarised below into the model was as

26. AR EERE®
AMEEEREZ AFERA ZERX
BAHE - AEATERRATHA
BAZ TZ28dmT

follow:
31 March 14 March
2011 2011
—E——F —E——F
=A=+-—H =A+mH
Stock price (e HK$1.43 HK$1.33
1.43% T 1.33% T
Exercise price 1TEE HK$0.20 HK$0.20
0.207/& T 0.2078 T
Risk free-rate mE A 1.110% 1.024%
Discount rate BRIR K 10.071% 10.176%
HK$’000
T
The movement of the convertible loan HBREEZENERNZ EHEYWT
notes for the year is set out below:
Recognition of convertible loan notes on  AJHAARE BEZHEN = —F=A+ImH
14 March 2011 (date of extension) (FEERRE) Eﬁ” 200,000
Fair value change charged to the profit or st AR Z A EEH
loss 1,186
Carrying amount at 31 March 2011 —E——F=ZA=+—HZKEmE 201,186
None of the convertible loan notes had been converted into FRANTEAIRBREEZBRCEERE
ordinary shares of the Company during the year. PAYNE =3 ) 3
B EREEAMRAR - F3k 2011 105
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27. SHARE CAPITAL N
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.10 each Amount
SREE
01078 T2
ZERHE &8
HK$'000
FHIT
Authorised: SETERRA
Balance at 1 April 2009, RZZEZNRFMNA—A -
31 March 2010 and —E-EF=A=1+—AHk
31 March 2011 —E——%=A=+—A82
KR 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAT
Balance at 1 April 2009, RZEZNFMNA—A -
31 March 2010 and “E-FTF=ZA=+—HK
31 March 2011 —T——f=A=t—-RHz
“EER 765,373,584 76,537

28. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)

28. JEEHIR

NTREEIAZTERLEHRBERE(ER

recognised and movement thereof during the current and prior B ) AR H A7 e B So B 1 R HA
reporting periods. Mz &8 -
Accelerated
tax Intangible
depreciation assets Tax losses Total
B IE
wE BmEEE BIEEE k]
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT TAT FAT
At 31 March 2009 RZZZNF=HA
_‘|“ H 50 - (50) -
Acquired on acquisition of W B A TIREA
subsidiaries - 33,783 - 33,783
Exchange realignment 0& i - 89 - 89
Credit to consolidated statement RAAFEZ4&£E42H
of comprehensive income WA
for the year - (508) - (508)
At 31 March 2010 RZE—FF=A
=t+—A 50 33,364 (50) 33,364
Exchange realignment DE 5 SR - 1,542 - 1,542
Credit to consolidated statement  RAEEZEA2E
of comprehensive income WamRETA
for the year - (10,837) - (10,837)
At 31 March 2011 RZZ——%F=A
=+—H 50 24,069 (50) 24,069
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ELEHE &)

At 31 March 2011, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$60,718,000 (2010: HK$58,315,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$302,000 (2010:
HK$302,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$60,416,000 (2010: HK$58,013,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profits streams. Tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As 31 March 2011, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of HK$17,520,000 (2010: HK$17,374,000). No
deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting
to HK$20,376,000 (2010: HK$22,957,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

MN-B——F=A=+—H £K&£H
Z AEFAIEEE £60,718,0008 7T
—ZF—FF 1 58,315,000/87T) * A
FREE RGN - REB D RREZE
BB 49302,0008 L (ZE—FF
302,000/ 70 ) HERIELERRTEEE - /@
REELATER B & ZaF AR - Bitkx
BRHRT 2B E1B%60,416,000/%8
TT(ZZE—F4F : 58,013,000/8 7T )
RIEETIBEE - HIIARE A &R
whed o

MNZB——F=A=+—H £K&£H
BRI Ty Z=%817,520,0008 7T( =
T—F4HF 1 17,374,000 7T) - AT
IR B 2= BN oK AT RS A MR HURUE ER
FaF - s SR IR =
RAMERIRERIBEE ©

BREFECEMBRERE BT
ZENF—A—AHiE  BRdEHER
AIBLEATHEE 2 B MM E R 2 R E &
WFEME - Bimpt P BB AR &
st | JE 4k 2 BT By 2= #H20,376,0007% 7T
—EZ—F4F 1 22,057,000/ 7T ) AER
AUBRRELECHBRE - HHE
AREEEBIE B R E 2R 2 R
BEBEBAERERG TSN R
JRAEE] o
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29. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION  29. B3R - 3B R IBIE R A B E

AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2010 R-ZE—ZFMA—H -

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries L B B B N R R BE A 6,606

Utilised during the year FARNEEA (4,816)

At 31 March 2010 R-E—ETF=H=+—H 1,790

Exchange difference b =58 83

At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 1,873

108

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs, in relation to all of the two mines of the Group,
amounted to HK$1,873,000 as at 31 March 2011.

Mining activities may result in land subsidence, which could
lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas. Pursuant
to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required to
make compensation payments to the residents for their losses
resulting from land subsidence, or to restore the mining areas
back to certain acceptable conditions.

Under existing legislation, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.
The PRC government, however, has moved and may move
further towards the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Environmental liabilities are subject to considerable
uncertainty which affect the Group’s ability to estimate the
ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These uncertainties
include: (i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination
at various sites including, but not limited to, coal mines and
land development areas, whether operating, closed or sold,
(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts, (jii) varying costs of
alternative remediation strategies, (iv) changes in environmental
remediation requirements, and (v) the identification of new
remediation sites.

RZEBE——E=A=+—0  #tx&
B2 PWEERE B - BRRIRE
BAVEH 7 B4 51,873,0008 7T ©

BB A LG BUFE - (EME<H
ik EREXEX - REHAES
BISH - AREEZAR MG EREX
ZBREAERERELEE - HiH
RipR IIEE —E AR -

RIBRITED - EREREISERE
AT AT B ¥ AR & (3] B Fs R O sl A 8 23
BEHEEABEFENEE - AW &
B BT 24 A ] aLE — S E R B
HREIRRIZE - RIRBEESREERE
ENTHTAZ  TAgrErEE
B REIRBEHERENEN - E
TEETAERE (R TRME (B
BREREES BREFAKREHED
5 R L) EHIR SR
MERREE ((FERMAEEIEN
BE 5 (i) STEE fh ] 48 B RuE it
BIRKAS : (VIRIBHERENER : &
(V)T F Z2REERUE BRI 2 -
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29. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION  29.

30.

AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS (continued)

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
clean up costs has been determined by management
based on their past experience and best estimate of future
expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures to their
net present value. However, in so far as the effect of the land
and the environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated costs
may be subject to revision in the future. The amounts provided
in relation to close down, restoration and environmental clean
up costs are reviewed at least annually based upon the facts
and circumstances available at the time and the provisions are
updated accordingly.

ACQUISITION OF FURTHER INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES/ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 March 2011

On 17 August 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of
further 49% equity interest in Star Fortune, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$50,000,000 satisfied in cash. The
difference of approximately HK$27,143,000 between the
consideration paid and the decrease in the carrying amount of
the non-controlling interests has been recognised directly in
equity.

As at the end of the reporting period, both the performance
guarantee (please refer to paragraph below) for the First Annual
Period (defined below) and the profit guarantee (please refer
to paragraph below) have been met. In addition, as stated
in the conditional agreement on 20 May 2010 to acquire the
further 49% equity interest in Star Fortune, the performance
guarantee for the Second Annual Period (defined below) has
been waived. Details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 2 June 2010. The transaction was
approved by independent shareholders of the Company at a
special general meeting held on 12 August 2010.

B EREXARAA - 3, 2011

30.

B - ERRRBRANEE ()

EEECDRERFBEELR  UkY
RRFEX 2 &EHE - AEHRAX
MRREHBRAFEMECHR  ER
FORBBEK AL - AT - RER
RIS E B W R 2 LI R ER
AXRHEEBBELR - ABE[KAZ
ERFRBRARREHESR] - SLEERT
BRERRFEBFENAERZBHEED
EEFREERABZEERBRAM
Bz AREUGRITRE

WEEH B A RIZEIMER Wi
VRPN
HE-_ZT——F=A=+—HItFE
RZZE—ZFN\A++tH  ~A&EEE
U R )& 5 2 5B IN49% I AN 4
%% - #AR{E A50,000,00058 7T - VAR
X o IR EREERERRED
B A WA E 2 Z&4927,143,00078
TT - EEEREmANER

PREHELERE  gETEHHEGE
ZR T 2R BAREB(BFLE T
FaFlRE (BRE T30 BEEK -
o - MR ZE—EF R A = +H
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30. ACQUISITION OF FURTHER INTEREST IN

110

SUBSIDIARIES/ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010

On 3 July 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of
51% equity interest in Star Fortune, which engages in
mining, sales and distribution of coal in the PRC, at an
aggregate consideration of HK$104,066,000 including legal
and professional fees directly attributable to the acquisition
amounting to approximately HK$4,066,000. This transaction
has been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting.

The consideration is subject to further adjustment per profit
guarantee with the vendor and vendor’s guarantor, which
stated that net profit after tax attributable to the shareholder of
Star Fortune shall not be less than HK$40 million for the period
from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009 in accordance with
the HKGAAP. In the event of any shortfall in the guaranteed
profit, the vendor shall pay the Group a maximum amount of
HK$28 million depending on the level of shortfall. In addition,
the fair value of net assets is subject to further adjustment
per performance guarantee with the vendor and the vendor’s
guarantor, which stated that the volume of coal sold by Star
Fortune from 4 July 2009 to 3 July 2010 (the “First Annual
Period”), and from 4 July 2010 to 3 July 2011 (the “Second
Annual Period”) respectively shall not be less than 900,000
tonnes for each period. If the said amount could not be
achieved, the vendor and the vendor’s guarantor shall deliver
to Star Fortune a quantity of coal equivalent to the difference
between the performance guarantee and the 12-month volume
of coal sold by Star Fortune for each of the First Annual Period
and the Second Annual Period. Details of which are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 12 June 2009.

=

WEEHI B N R A MER B
Lol NG )

HE_Z-ZHFE=-A=+—HLFE
RZZEZAFLAZAH » AQRTK
RN EFRAE - HERDHE
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R A8 A104,066,00058 7T © BIEUKE
EHERBLEZEREXEERARY
4,066,000/ 7T ° ZEX HERKiES
SEANER ©

RETJBEESHEEHERAZEH
RBIEHE—THE - FEEFRES
B RZZEENF—A—HEZZZE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &

30. ACQUISITION OF FURTHER INTEREST IN

BE_F——F=A=t-HILFE

£ —=

30. WIBKIB AR EIMER W

SUBSIDIARIES/ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES ENGIE-))
(continued)
The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction, and the R SHE WL EFELINE
goodwill arising on acquisition, are as follows: FrEEZEBNT -
Carrying Acquiree’s
amount Acquiree’s fair value
before Fair value at acquisition
acquisition  adjustments date
WS
W B Al HWER: REEBARZ
EREE AT EFE AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FAT
Net assets acquired: BWBEEETE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HENEK 18,790 - 18,790
Intangible assets BYEE 185,323 (43,323) 142,000
Inventories 78 70,297 - 70,297
Trade and other receivables JEWE TR R E b FEU R 28,787 - 28,787
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRE 32,461 - 32,461
Trade and other payables FERERRE MR (57,260) - (57,260)
Amount due to minority shareholder — FEfT > EIAR B 208 (28,500 - (28,500)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIERE (44,613) 10,830 (33,783)
Taxation payable FERITHIE (2,263) - (2,263)
Provision for close down, restoration  B3EA + 1828 KRB A
and environmental costs B (6,606) - (6,606)
Net assets acquired BUEEEFE 196,416 (32,493) 163,923
Minority interests DERRER (80,322)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEFTEE 2 e
(Note 17) (BiE17) 20,465
Total consideration BRE 104,066
Satisfied by: AT S ESR
Deposits for acquisition of WEEHB AR ZE]®
subsidiaries 2,000
Cash B 102,066
104,066
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEFTELIR &7 F5
Cash consideration HeRE 102,066
Bank balances and cash acquired FrEB R TR T RIS (32,461)
Net outflow of cash and cash HUEB B ARI5IE
equivalents in respect of RekReEMEIER
the acquisition of subsidiaries mHEE 69,605

B EREXARAA - 3, 2011
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30. ACQUISITION OF FURTHER INTEREST IN

112

SUBSIDIARIES/ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the above subsidiaries
represents opportunities for the Group to bring its expertise
to the proposition and access to the region of PRC that are
provided by the above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed
HK$86,514,000 to the Group’s turnover and a loss for the year
of HK$6,766,000 between the date of acquisition and the end
of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2009,
total group revenue for the period would have been
HK$159,551,000 and loss for the year would have been
HK$2,555,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purpose only and is not necessarily an indicative revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2009, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

0. WEME L RIBEIMER W

Ff BB 2 B ()

Wis LB AR EL 2 BEEAS
EREEAFRENB AR MESHS
7% L 5 5 AR S| R B 3 [ 3 i LA 3
’E o

FR o WEHBARNKEBBHER
HREEERSANEREREEE
& F W E 18 5 Bl 86,514,000 78 It &
6,766,000 7T °

BRUBER-ZEZNFNA—ABR
K HAREBERKE R FREBEES
Al £159,551,000% 7T & 2,555,000 7%
UL HEERMERRBARSG - RME
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—HEK - AEBEER SRS Lk
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

31. DEREGISTRATION OF A SUBSIDIARY
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group deregistered

one of its subsidiaries, Z 715§ OFII) BRAT] (“1=777).

31.

Net assets of #1 on 15 November 2010 at the date of

— FEI Y B 2 BN A

WRE-F——5=A=+—AIL%F
B - AR B RS A
N ECRIDERAAEN)) -

AR -_ZE—TF+—ATHBHH

deregistration: FMBEH EEFE
HK$'000
FET
Trade and other receivables FEURE TR E A FE YR 2,116
Bank balances and cash BITEFRRE 3
Trade and other payables FERTE R R E AR (2,009)
110

Exchange translation reserve realised on  — & Fi B A B3RS +E B2 3R 8 W 5

deregistration of a subsidiary (518)
Net gain on deregistration HEE I F R 408

Net cash outflow arising on
deregistration of a subsidiary:

Cash consideration

Bank balances and cash disposed

ReRE
PR ERITHEBEIRE

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of deregistration of a subsidiary 18 B it H/F58

The subsidiaries deregistered during the year ended 31 March
2011 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of
the Group for that year.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

—HEMNB AR EL 2R SR FRE -

—HEMNBARRBEMEE R KRS E

(©)

REBE-_T——F=—A=1t—HIL#F
ERGHEM 2 B R RS A REZF
BZEXBREEMBEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEALRS
()  Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated () BREGEFBHREREMIDMEE
financial statements, the significant related party BN - REER—BREBBRESD
transactions, which were carried out in the normal course ETZEREEATRSHUOT ¢

of the Group’s business are as follows:

2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Asia Peace =2l
- purchase of clocks, timepieces, — EBERF$E « Brat » R NX
gifts and premium products 1B mEm - 314
— sales of clocks — HERE = 124
— rental expenses — HeRx = 200
Star Fortune International ENEEERERAF
Development Company Limited (T2hs&E%RE]) (M)
(“SFID”) (Note)
- loan interest expenses — BEXFERX 255 217
China Sonangol 72 B B
— management fee income — BEEREBRA
received - 5,000
— rental expenses — HeMAx 600 480
Note: SFID is the holder of 49% equity interest of Star Fortune M ENEBRR/ENETE49%
and is treated as the shareholder of Star Fortune until the RAERZ 2 FEA  BWRA
completion of acquisition of a further 49% equity interest ENEBIRR HEE-T—
of Star Fortune on 17 August 2010. ZENATEHTHRBER S
%%Z%ﬁ%@%%ﬁ%éﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i)  Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key

32. BEALXRZ @)
iy FTEEEAEME
FREELRHMEBEEREXE

management during the year was as follows: ZEHBMT
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Short-term benefits SEEEEY] 2,270 1,812
Post-employment benefits BERL 12127 38 33
2,308 1,845

The remuneration of directors and key executives was
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee
The Group leases certain of its offices and staff quarters
under operating lease arrangements. Lease for properties are
negotiated for a term ranging from one to four years and rental
are fixed.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

EERFEBTBRABZHMiEF
MEZEE2REEZBARRR
MZBERETE -

33. WEHERE
REBERARAA
AEEREEEHERFHEMABE TS
THRAEREIRES - ZEM¥E2H
HWEPNF—FE2NFAE - HeRE
EE e

K& HEERE - AEERENA
G2 HE 2 R BN REHEER
TRAGER AT BRI 25

2011 2010

—E——F —E—FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within one year —FR 758 724
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ E-F=ERF(BITEERE) 360 10
1,118 734

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

116

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 March
1995 (the “Old Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to directors and eligible employees and
expired on 20 March 2005.

As a result of the amendments of Chapter 17 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) on 1 September 2001,
certain terms of the Old Scheme are no longer in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the Company can no longer grant
any further options under the Old Scheme without being
in breach of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company
terminated the Old Scheme and adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme”), which was approved in the
Company’s annual general meeting on 28 August 2003, for
the purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
participants.

Except that no further options may be granted under the Old
Scheme subsequent to its termination, all the other provisions
of the Old Scheme will remain in force so as to give effect to
the exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Old
Scheme prior to 1 September 2001 and all such options will
remain valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions
of the Old Scheme.

According to the New Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers,
customers, any technical, financial, and legal professional
advisors who have contributed to the Group, to subscribe for
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1 for each lot
of share options granted.

Options granted should be accepted within 28 days from the
date of grant. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date adoption of the New Scheme.

4. BIRAESHE

RRRR—NANAF=A=-+—HB&K
ARSI ([&EFT8)) - B&Y
RAEERAEREBIRMER LD
HEMECER_ETRF=A_-T
B & e

HREBBAERZMBERARES L
AT EFRADFI7TER_FF
—FNA—RELER] - SEREZ
ETHERTBNE LHRA - #ER
RARBERTEBR L E(IRERE
HEERETRA - Bilb - ARAR
LF B R &I 3 5K — TR B A R 2
(T#&t8]) > BNRRBEERAE
®RemE - HEHASERARRE
“EZ=F N AT NBETZRRE
BEXRS LREHE -

B IEER SR T AR R LB
PerESh - BR8P A E A RS
B AUN-_FT—FNA—H
AR ES B I B R RITRZ A
BB TITE - MABZERE
P AR R E 5T Bl Z IR BB
KR FATIE ©

RIEFAE - ARREFAMAER
BE  BEARANEEMHBLAE
ZEE  AREMEHAKEELE
RRz BtrEm ~ &P LA RAEfAIilT - B
BROERERER  HTBERENR
BARRRD  BHERHLBEREZ
RERIVET -

B 2 B ZE N R B B kR RT28 H
NN o RIBFFEI AR FHEMRE
SRR R B TR 2 AR E R
FITERBETIROBE - TSR
BARBRFETEIE A B B2 TR
3210%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RE SRR ML ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 —ZT——&E=A=+—H | FE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34. [BREE(®)

At the end of the reporting period, there was no remained
outstanding share options granted under the scheme (2010:
Nil). The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The directors may at their absolute discretion determine the
period during which an option may be exercised, such period
to expire not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors and
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share on the date of grant, (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (i) the nominal
value of the share.

During the year ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010, no
option was granted under the New Schemes to directors of
and consultants of the Group.

There was no outstanding share option as at 1 April 2009, 31
March 2010 and 31 March 2011.

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011

PEREHREERE - WERES B
ZERE M ARITE 2 BRE(ZS—
TF ) o EREARARIREELHE
BT EREATE—FRERZ
RS N 2 IR DB E TS RBIBA
DR RE TG Z21% © [
ARREE TBITBRABREER
R EE 2 FABEALRD 2B
TGN MR R R IR AR #80.1% s 42 (8
835,000,000/ 7T + BB FEAR
AR SR B -

IRIZF AT 8 S A8 2 B o] H A s B
FHEIIR M A RTTE 2 BB B AR B
TERSAETZRNHBE &ZEHK
TEBBRAATHEBEITRAEAZ
30% °

BEN2ERIBEREEREN TITE
ZHR  ERHEASBAR P ER
BEBARBR+F - THEBHESE
TE o ENEER) AR TG R E LB
HZ WHE (i) AR RN RBEER
FHBARAEEER 2 FHKRTHE
KimEE=&EF 2 &aHE °

REBE-ZT——F=A=+—BKZ
Z-ZF-A=+HLFE UE
RIS R T AEEES RER 2
FERRE -

R-FFAEMA—H T %
FZA=+—-AR-B——%=
=+—R - BRI 2 MR -
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35.

118

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC. The retirement scheme contributions,
which are based on a certain percentage of the salaries of the
PRC subsidiaries’ employees, are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the year to which
they are related and represented the amount of contributions
payable by these subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$627,000 (2010:
HK$222,000) represents contributions payable to the schemes
by the Group in respect of the current financial year.

5. RIKEFETE

REBERBERHIMERTEEFEED B
BEB2EERERRFERESF
g([wfEestdl ) cBRERIBES
itEl - HFRBEEZEAFHEES
HatE - WREBBRESF & ZRAIRN
e BSEAR A EE R A - 8
BErElcEER—EBELEE R
TRA - BAKECZEEDRRKE -
AEEZ BEHRRABES M|
REEBEREEMA -

RRARERERER L ZHBRE R
IR M 2 B R AR R AR R A
B2 E o BINGHBIHEFREH B
BRAREBZFHEETADLE
VEERKEEFEERASZHEKER
AIkR - BERARLLENERREN T
ZBRTBIZ RS -

Riza2EKRER NG 2B ALY
627,000 T (= —Z4F : 222,000/
T IEAREBR AT B FE RZETE
FERT Z 5K ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R B RM ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 B Z —ZE——%=A=+—HIEE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

36. A E)ZHBARREHR

2010
—E-FF
HK$’000
FET

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other receivables
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Amount due to ultimate holding
company
Convertible loan notes

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

BEREREXAMRAT - 43 2011

FEREEE
YE N =Y e
RSB AR ZRE

MBEE

P& T Bt B8 2 B3R
HLA 8 YRR
RITEFERAS

irER=YE

JE A & R e B e £
A

& W B AR YRR N )
A
ABREERE

mEBEEFE
BEERRBAR
P B fefi e

PeA
G

52,736

272,837

325,573

735

180,410

181,145

144,428

144,428

76,537

67,891

144,428
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
(@  Amounts due from subsidiaries/Amount due to ultimate
holding company
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

(b) Reserves

Convertible

Share  loan notes
premium reserve
TEREE

EhaE  RERE
HK$'000  HK$'000

36. RQATZHMBERRIRE (&)

(@  FEMHE A FIRUR, MR R
YN
HELEARER  LERAR

e
EoREE -

b) f#B
Exchange
translation Contributed Accumulated
reserve surplus losses Total

EifE HABR RIER 2
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

T TET FiER TR THr Tin
At 31 March 2009 RZEENF=F
=1-H 191,634 55,495 - 128,013 (236,262) 138,780
Loss and comprehensive ~ ERBER2HEH S
expense for the year - - - - (70,889 (70,889
At 31 March 2010 RZE-ZF=A
=1+-H 191,634 55,495 - 128,013 (307,151) 67,891
Loss and comprehensive ~ EREERZEMEY
expense for the year - - - - (33,591) (33,591)
Other comprehensive income  FRE 2 ERX
for the year - - 12,118 - - 12,118
Release during the year upon  ATIRIEEZHE
expiring of convertble loan ~ [EjfiF &L
notes - (55,495) - - 55,495 -
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=]
=t+-H 191,634 - 12,118 128,013 (285,247) 46,418

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the
companies being acquired and the value of net assets
of the underlying companies acquired at the time of the
Group’s reorganisation in preparation for its listing in
1995. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Company may make distributions to its members out of
the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

RRBZ A BERIEARN R AR
WEAREBEITROMETZIARF]
RO EE - EARERRE AR RAS
BE-NANAFASHLTETEA
RzBEEFEZEZR  BREBRE
—NN\—FRBE - ARRAIEET
BERTEFABRBRAEBEREL DK
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REBMBRRMEE (8
For the year ended 31 March 2011 i Z - & ——

FZA=t+—HILFE

37.

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company as at
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 are as follows:

TEMBERQF
ARRAR-FE——F=A=+—AK
“E-TF-A=+-BRBZEE
MBS T :

Place of
incorporation/  Nominal value of
registration issued share/ Percentage of
Class of and operations  registered capital equity attributable
Name of subsidiary sharesheld  HMAL FM ERTRAEE to the Group Principal activities
WEARERE PR ER REEHE dMER AEBEGRERINE TEXHR
2011 2010
—%——F -T-%%
% %
Directly held:
HERE
Teamright Holdings Limited ~ Ordinary BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Rl EBENES E REER
Lasting Power Investments ~ Ordinary BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Ll RBRUES e REEKR
NERBARRAF]
Indirectly held:
BERE -
Artfield Manufacturing Ordinary Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100 Inactive
Company Limited LR B 1,000/87C BmER
HHEEXERLA Non-voting HK$2,000,000¢
deferred shares 2,000,000/ 7T
BREEELR
Wehrle Uhrenfabrik GmbH Ordinary Germany EUR255,646 100 100 Inactive
el =e 255,646807T EEXK
®hEsE (RY) AR 2R Contrbuted  PRC HK$3,000,000 - 100 Inactive
([&Enly capital F 3,000,000/ 7T mE
NN
Progress Team Limited Ordinary Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Inactive
ERERR A 3l BE e eSS
Star Fortune Ordinary BVI US$780 100 51 Investment holding
ENES TiBR EERLES 780%TT REER
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Investment  Ordinary Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited Lk B 60,000,000/ 7T REER
AR ERRAT
Mulei County Kai Yuen Coal  Ordinary PRC RMB30,000,000 100 - Coal mining and
Company Limited ERR h A& #30,000,0007T sales
EFIRERERETLA FRRAERR
Qitai County Zexu Trading Ordinary PRC RMB2,000,000 100 - Coal mining and
Company Limited LR F AR#2,000,0007T sales

TREEEAEARATAF

B EREXARAA - 43, 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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37.

122

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. FEMBAT (@)

Notes: Fi3E

# The non-voting deferred shares are entitled to a fixed non- # EAR BRI R A BRISIRFF X5
cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per annum and a return of EBitE 2 FEEIFRTER B REDIK
the paid-up capital after the distribution of HK$100,000,000, but 100,000,000 & 7t 18 2 B #1 & 7K g
carry no rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any o EmEEREMZARIREXR
general meeting of the company, or to participate in the profits Ry HEZ R AMEARE A
or assets of the company. BHRRELERR  HBEZRA)Z

HHHEE

* Deregistered during the year ended 31 March 2011. N Eﬁﬁ;:ﬁ——izﬂ =t—HERF
S

=7 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the BHRRPBEKL 2SI EEERR -

PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, ERINAREESRREERER
e v = /N T o

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally $%%Eﬁ§§2$%ml%&a

affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of EERA - NEMINBARZ &R

e g e b A A o
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result EMRBANTTE °

in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as RFRSF N AE R - BB A
=4 = (== Ay 7% Mt
at the end of the year or at any time during the year. RIRAEREET 2 EHES
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBGIHE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Express in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z——F=F=+—HIFE NFBTREM)

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and non-  ANEBERBER AT HEEDAMEE - &
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set  ZE N BEA N IFIERERS IO o
out below.
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 March
BE-A=+—-HLHEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—2——F -T2 ZITThE ZTTN\G TTLH
TURNOVER EE 2] 104,428 96,090 23,105 137,164 178,405
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS & &ia (15,402) (7,651) (14822  (21,631)  (84,700)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M E A Rl Z Uiz - - 3 669 9,885
Net gain on deregistration of LniEpNSIE € Rl
subsidiaries Wa 58 408 - 2,618 215 -
Finance costs BEM A (19,845) (18,756) (16,640) 974) (2,820)
Impairment loss recognised in S EEERZ
respect of intangible asset REEE (41,595) - - - (46,440)
Impairment loss recognised i~ #tE &R 2
respect of goodwill HEBE (15,065) (5,400) - - (3,963)
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (92,685) (31,807) (28,841) @1,721)  (128,038)
Income tax credit (expense) FTig R () 10,730 (2,163) 77 (524) 3,243
Loss for the year ENEIE (81,955)  (33970)  (28,764)  (22,245)  (124,795)
Attributable to: 1L
Owners of the Company RAREA AN (81,094) (31,789) (28,764) (22,245)  (124,577)
Non-controlling interests Flaliir ey (861) (2,181) - - (218)
(81,955) (33,970) (28,764) (22,245) (124,795)
B EREEARAF - 37 2011 123



FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY (continued)

EEPBEHEER)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Express in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z——F=F=+—HIFE NFBTREM)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING XEREEBURIEERER

INTERESTS
At 31 March
R=A=1+—H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—2——F —T-TF ZTTNF ZTITN\F ZTTtHF
Total assets BEE 390,997 543,233 385,977 403,730 86,535
Total liabilities wafE (259,316) (283,832) (172,509) (169,569)  (34,908)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR = - (78,004) - - 211
Net assets BETE 131,681 181,397 213,468 234,161 51,838
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